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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statemerits.
These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, apd other factors that may cause our
actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievemeénts to be materially different from any future .
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward- looking "
statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words suchas =+~
“anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “should,”
“will,” and “would” or similar words. You should read statements that contain these words carefully
because they discuss our future expectations, contain projections of our future results of operations or of
our financial position, or state other forward-looking information. The factors listed in Item 1A of Part I of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, captioned “Risk Factors,” as well as any cautionary language in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our
actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward- locking statements,
including but not limited to:

1

s risks related to the government contracting mdustry, mcludmg pOSSlble changes in government
spending prioritics;

" B t . v
* risks related to our business, including our dependence on contracts with U.S. Federal Government
agencies and departments and continued good relations, and being successful in competitive
bidding, with those customers;

* uncertainties as to whether revenues corresponding to our contract backlog will actually be
received;

e risks related to the 1mplementat10n of our strategic plan, including the ability to make acqulsltlons
and the performdnce and future integration of acquired businesses; and

¢ other risks and uncenamtles disclosed in our fllmgs with the Securltles and Exchange Commns-.lon

Although we believe the expectanons reflected in the forward- -looking statements are reasonable we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements, You should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, even if our
situation changes in the future.

The terms “we” and “our” as used throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to ATS
Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, uniess otherwise indicated.
Item1.  Business
INFORMATION ABOUT ATS CORPORATION (“ATS-”)
Our Business

We were organized as a “blank check” company under the laws of the State of Delaware on April 12,
2005 and were formed for the purpose of acquiring, through a merger, capital stock exchange asset -
acqlusntlon stock purchase or other similar business combination, an operating business in the federal
services and defense industries. OQur principal executive offices aré located at 7915 Jones Branch Dme
McLean, Virginia 22102,

Personnel

ATS has no employees other than those of ATSI.




Available Information ) . . .

We maintain an internet website at http://www.atsva.com. We make available our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and other information related to us, free of charge, on this site as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file those documents with, or otherwise furnish them to, the Securities and .
Exchange Commission. Our internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto
are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recent Developments

On January 16, 2007, we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Advanced Technology
Systems, Inc. ‘and its submdnanes (“collectively, ATSI”), a provnder of systems integration and application
development to the U.S. government, for (a) $84.0 million in cash, reduced by a working capital '
adjustment, the repayment of outstanding indebtedness of ATSI and an aggregate of $8.75 million of
escrowed funds, and (b) 173,913 shares of common stock of ATS. It is possible that the former
shareholders of ATSI could benefit from certain earnout opportunities if certain adjusted EBITDA
thresholds are achieved and additionally if ATSI is awarded a contract for a U.S. Air Force information
technology outsourcing project in Hawaii. That contracting decision has been delayed on sev’eral occasions.
As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K we had not been advised of a dec1510n on that award.

We funded the cash portion of the ATSI purchase price with the proceeds of our initial public
offering. In connection with the acquisition of ATSI, holders of 2,906,355 shares of common stock who
voted against the acquisition and protected their right to covert their shares of common stock into $5.77 of
cash per share. An aggregate of $16,769,668 was paid to converting stockholders. These conversions were
also funded with the proceeds of our initial public offering. Information about ATSI is included as an
exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As prevmusly announced on January 9, 2007 and after the close of the ATSI acqunsmon the
Company repurchased 2,625,000 shares of the Company’s common-stock from the founders of the
Company for approximately $2,888. The founders are Joel R. Jacks, Peter M. Schulte, Dr. Edward H.
Bersoff, Arthur L. Money and FSAC Partners, LLC.

Following the completion of the acquisition, we announced and implemented a common stock and,
warrant repurchase program. Through March 9, 2007, we utilized approximately $12.0 million of cash to
purchase 2,399,400 shares of our common stock at an average price of $4 99 per share lncludlng
COMMISSIons. :

The ATS Incentive Compensation Plan was approved by the stockholders at the January 12, 2007
stockholder’s meeting. The plan reserves 1.5 miflion shares of our common stock for issuance to our
employees and employees of our subsidiaries. .

We entered into a temporary 90-day $9.0 million line of credit with the Bank of America on
February 1, 2007. The current line bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus between 150-225 basis
points per annum, depending on the outstanding balance on the line. The Company expects this temporary
line to be replaced with permanent arrangements, perhaps involving both a revolving credit facilityanda
stand-by,acquisition facility. No assurance can be provided that the Company will be able to put into pldce
permanent credit facilities, or the size and terms of such facilities.

As of the close of business on February 28, 2007, we acquired Reliable Integration Services, Inc.
{“RI1SI”), a 37-employee network systems integrator serving U.S. government defense and civilian agencies
for approximately $1.3 million in cash, promissory notes and assumption of debt, plus $0.2 million in ATS
corporation common stock.




We entered into a warrant clarification agreement on March 14, 2007. Prior to that date we were
required to record the werrant liability at each reporting date at.its then estimated fair value, with any
changes being recorded through our statement of operations as other income/expense. The warrants w;ll
continue to be reportcd as a liability through March 14, 2007 when we clarified our warrant agreement so
this treatment is no longer required.

On March 19, 2007, we entered into an employment agreement with Dr Edward H. Bersoff to _]Olll
ATS as our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer. He has been servmg in that capacrty since
January 16, 2007, The employmcnt agreement was filed as part of an 8-K on March 21, 2007.

INFORMATION ABOUT ATSI
Regulations o ) : ' S

We are subject to various statutes and regulations applicable to government contracts generally and
defense contracts specifically. These statutes and regulations carry substantial penalty provisions including
suspension or debarment from government contracting or subcontracting for a period of time, if we are
found to have violated these regulations. Among the causes for debarment are violations of various
statutes, including those related to procurement integrity, export control, government security regulations,
employment practices, the protection of the environment, the accuracy of records, and the recording of
costs. We carefully monitor all of our contracts and contractual efforts to minimize the possibility of ary
violation of these regulations.

As a government contractor, we are subject to government audits, inquiries and investigations. We
have experienced minimal audit adjustments in the past. The Defense Contract Audit Agency (“DCAA”)
has completed its audit of ATSI contracts through the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004 and we are
subject to adjustment on our performance during subsequent years.

I - y e

Overview . . . i

ATSI provides systems integration and apphcatlon development, information technolegy
infrastructure management, and strategic information technology consulting services primarily to U.S.
government agencres As part of its complete systems life-cycle approach, ATSI offers its clients an
integrated full-service information technology’ infrastructure outsourcing solution that allows an agenC"/ to
focus oa its core mission while reducing costs and maintaining system uptime.

ATSI, founded in 1978, was incorporated under the laws of the District of Columbia, and in 1994 -
began operating as a Virginia corporation. ATSI originally focused on mainframe applications '
development and was awarded one of its first prime contracts'in 1981 from the Department of Housing
and Urban Development, or HUD, to develop the Computerized Homes Underwriting Management
System, a system for-tracking and monitoring home mortgages. By 1985, as technology evolved, ATSIs
relationship with HUD ‘evolved as well, and' ATSI was tasked to design and implement various Local Area
Network, or LAN, applications to meet the complex needs of the agency. ATSI expanded its expertise into
enterprise architecture and system implementation services during its design of HUD's multi-tiered
extranét application, FHA Connection, which consists of several smaller subsystems with a diverse mix of
multi-tiered architectures in a web-driven solution. Throughout the 1998’s, ATSI began to accelerate its
business development efforts-with other federal agencies in an effort to diversify its client concentration
outside HUD and provide additional avenues for growth. For example, ATSI cross-sold its HUD
applications development expertise to the Resolution Trust Corporation, or RTC, an agency created to
manage the savings and loan crisis, to provide both applications development and database administration.
As the savings and loan ¢risis was resolved, ATSI leveraged its past performance record at RTC towin a
contract to develop the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s first internet and intranet sites.

Although ATSI’s service offerings have evolved over time to incorporate new technologies, ATST has
remained committed to: ’

[

o systems integration and application development;



» information technology infrastructure management to support its clients’ program or system
objectives through.the:design and implementation of customized solutions; and
* strategic information technology consulting (business process redesign). ot

- -+

Systems Integration and Application Development

ATSI has over 25 years of expenenee bulldlng and implementing leading edge financial,
admmlstratwe/trackmg and document/records management systemis for federal civilian agency and -
Department of Defense (“DoD”) clients. ATSI has de51gned developed, and integrated over 100 custom,
enterprise-wide applications to assist clients with managing data and systems resources. As a result of its
development efforts, ATSI has built a strong understanding of its clients’ information technology
infrastructures, favorably positioning it to identify opportunities for additional application development: -
and systems upgrades.

.

t

To create the best solutions for clients, ATSI utilizes its expertlse in the follovn ing areas:

DL I

Software development '

. ATSI offers a diverse portfoho of software development solutlons that 1nclude
‘I o réquirements analysis; '

s commercial off-the-shelf software or COTS software, integration;

* systems implementation;

e legacy systems ‘migration; and "~ ‘ . ' . .

+ custom software and application development ‘

ATST’s full suite of software engineering capabilitics favorably position ATSI to meet its clients’
desire to engage contractors who can evaluate the feasibility of COTS-based software solutions and,
when necessary, develop custom applications that modify those solutions to meet overall system
requirements. ATSI has built extensive knowledge of most of its clients’ systems, allowing it to
evaluate the feasibility. of 1ntegrat1ng COTS-based software solutions with legacy systems.

Addltlonally, ATS has developed numerous custom software solutions for clients requiring technlca] _
specifications that are more demanding than those offered by a COTS solution.

Systems mtegratwn, mstallanon, and mlgrauon e : e
ATSI performs comprehensxve systems 1ntegratlon and 1nstallat10n services in support of its

developed software systems, as well as network and hardware upgrades using COTS technologies
ATSI’s professionals analyze a client’s existing information systems, applications and platforms and
design a solution that sustains or extends,system performance and availability. As part of its work in

., this area, ATSI leverages its.past experience and deep technical expertise to evaluate compelting
solutions. ATSI thendevelops systems based on the cost and requirements of a client. Finally, ATSI
integrates the system into existing enterprise architectures to create a seamless application for clients.
Many.of ATST’s software development projects involve a substantial degree of legacy system .
integration and have served to further deepen ATSI’s techmcal capabilities with legacy systems
mtegratlon and migration. . . , - _ Ct

.

i

Web-based software implementations

ATSI’s software and systems engineers have developed, extenswe experience designing web- based
appllcanons and databse solutions. ATSI offers web-based solutions that include:

" H

» public key infrastructure, or PKI;

s virtual private network, or VPN;




, » single sign-oi; S , o - : e
« performance monitoring; and = Co o
" s clustering/load balancing and busmess—to—busmess Jor B2B, apphcemons

ATSI develops web-enabled systems that allow agencies to manage their intellectual capltal by
providing interactive web ties to robust database and mainframe architectures. Addltlonally, ATSI
develops intranet portals allowing organizations to share information and Communlcafe across a LAN,
Wlde Area Network (“WAN”) or the Internet !

Duatabase des:gn, administration, and mtegranan , - . '

ATSI combines broad experience in admmlstermg databases with a focused attention to
suggesting and implementing database applications and solutions. ATSI is involved in all stages of the
database management life cycle, including assessment of functional requirements, development of
database requirements, and assistance in vendor selection. ATSI has expertise in highly-complex
database design and optimization, data modeling, distributed databases, advanced architectures
performance tuning, backup and recovery planning, application administration planning and
operational administration. ATSI supports all phases of a database’s life cycle and typ1cally actsasa
vendor-neutral advisor, allowing ATSI to offer its clients the database application that best addresses
a s,ystem s specific requirements. In addition, ATST has designed and built custom database systeras,
using object-oriented analysis and design techniques. !

- Professional staffing services :

ATSI provides business and information téchnology staffing services for nearly all of the tecknical
and functional disciplines at financial IHStItUtIOHS with specific focus on business/data analysts anc’
database professionals. ATSI’s professionals possess significant teclinical and domain knowledge
developed through years of working with many of the largest financial services firms. ATSI employs a
dedicated recruiting staff to ensere ATSI has a full staff of professionals ready to quickly meet clieats’

needs. Our professional staffing services to financial institutions include the following:
‘ Ly . : ;

+ 12EE/Java development;

o cllent—server C/C++ development;

. systems administration; 0
. -mortgage industry business analysns S
" project management; ' ) ‘ A '
e P&C industry business analysis; =~ .
» Oracle and Sybase database administration; and Coe .o, n
. sy.stc,ams testing.

{ . N Tt

Information Technelogy Infrastructure Management

ATSI provides a full range of outsourced infrastructure management support serv ices. The ;
primary Component‘ of ATSI’s mfrastructure management services are:

Managed services and program management o '

ATSI provides a suite of enterprise information techno&ogy infrastructure Support ser\nces that
e¢nable government clients to focus on their core missions. ATSI’s information technology staff works
with clients to help plan, deploy, manage, and maintain their entire information technology
infrastructure. ATS)’s systems and services are focused on ensuring that clients’ enterprise solutions
have thé availability, reliability, performance, and support required for long-term success. ATSI also
provides comprehensive program management services to several federal agencies. These services




range from the establishment of program objectives to the application and tailoring of best practices,
as well as providing on-site management to execute all phases of a program effectively. Program
management often entails assisting the federal government in the oversight activities with larger
systems being developed by large system integration firms.

Help desk functions and messaging/workflow administration

ATSI’s complete outsourced information technology and infrastructure management solution
includes the provision of network-essential help desk functions. The ability to accurately identify,
capture and report network problems is critical to ATSIs ability to manage networks and recommend
system upgrades. ATSI also defines, evaluates, designs, deploys and ultimately maintains and
lmproves custom email systems that provide security, reliability and scalability for future growth. ATSI
is currently working with multiple clients in the delivery of business workflow solutions and the
corresponding design of electronic records management solutions.

Security/risk management

ATSI provides a full range of security and risk management services that proactively ensure the
safety of information, networks and systems.

ATSI Hawaii

ATSI Hawaii was formed to evaluate and pursue new business opportunities in the Pacific Rim.
This division is currently awaiting a contracting decision for a U.S. Air Force information technology
outsourcing project, or USAF ETS’s contract, in Hawaii, South Korea and other locations in the
Pacific that could have a contract value of more than $400.0 million over five years. Management
expects the USAF ETS Contract to be awarded during the first half of 2007 and it is not currently
pursuing additiona! opportunities through ATSI Hawaii. If the USAF ETS Contract is not awarded to
ATSI, it is presently anticipated that ATSI Hawaii will be closed.

Strategic Information Technology Consulting (Business Process Redesign)

ATSI has developed a comprehensive and sophisticated strategic information technology
consulting practice to assist clients with redesigning their business processes. ATSI helps clients
identify and implement changes that can significantly improve performance, cost-effectiveness,
quality, and client satisfaction. ATSI’s multi-disciplined consultants are typically engaged by senior
agency officials to assist with the development of programs and policies that support overall strategic
organizational goals. ATSI's strategic information technology consulting offerings include:

Strategic planning and data modeling ' '

ATSI’s strategic planning practice supports the modeling, simulation and prototyping of
information technology and network systems and solutions that help clients maximize their
investments in those systems. As part of its efforts, ATSI engages in feasibility studies, strategic
planning, systems development consulting, quality assurance, project management, organizational
assessment, system and transition planning and acquisition support for clients. ATSI also provides
data modeling services that allow clients to analyze how investments in software and systems
architecture will impact the overall system, database and network performance. ATSI uses its data
modeling capabilities to assist clients with operations research, system analysis, systems engineering,
cost-benefit analyses and statistics on operating performance.

Cost/economic/business case analysis

ATSI provides cost/economic and business case analysis to several civilian and DoD clients.
ATSI’s approach to these engagements is multi-dimensional, comparing not enly the financial aspects




of a system upgrade, but also addressing building, restructuring, and investing in future systems aad
technology. As part of this process, ATSI also assists agencies with developing effective performance
metrics that directly link agency missions and strategic objectives with their information technology
infrastructure. ' ' ;

Migration planﬁing Jor technology upgr'a'de

ATSI provides software and systems migration planning. ATSI utilizes a collaborative approach-
to systems implementation, often working with clients to design systems requirements and select
“best-of-breed” technologies to meet mission objectives. After identifying the proper solutions, ATS!
works with clients to identify issues that may arise during a systems migration and map out migration -
and implementation schedules. ATSI also focuses on identifying potential issues impacting system
uptime, connectivity and data availability. ATSI’s software and systems engineers then work with a
client to address ways to alleviate concerns and minimize the impact on daily operations.

Benchmarking, performance measurement and change management

ATSI provides program management support for software applications and networks throuzh
benchmarking, which encompasses the systematic process of searching for best practices, innovative
ideas, and operating procedures that can be implemented across applications and networks. As part of
this process, ATSI's financial and functional experts design and conduct surveys to define current
processes and assess possible improvements. ATSI surveys the budgeting and pricing processes and
visits each of the end-users, assessing the compliance and reliability of data collected with current
financial management business processes. The results are used to revise the program management
plan and document the detailed functional requirements riecessary for an enhanced budget planning
and programming process. : . . - .

Business consulting

. ATSI provides business consulting services to a broad range of clients through its team of highly-
experienced subject matter experts. These experts provide financial institutions with business and .
technology best practices in matters relating to high volume transaction processing, financial
accounting, cash and securities clearance, and fixed income trading. As part of its consulting services,
ATSI’s professionals provide a full life-cycle of software development consulting services from
business analysis, through requirements gathering, detailed design, development, testing and training
support. These seivices are often performed in conjunction with the implementation of an entire,
solution or system redesign project. Additionally, ATSI provides property and casualty insurance
companies with business and technology consulting services and solutions. These range from.system
selection and implementation to business process analysis and redesign. ATSI offers comprehensive . .
project management and quality assurance services needed to ensure a successful system
implementation.

Customers

ATSI’s diverse customer base consists primarily of U.S. government agencies. For the year endzd
October 31, 2006, ATSI generated 50.0% of its revenue from federal civilian agencies, 19.5% from defense
and homeland security agencies, 26.8% from commercial customers, including government sponsored
enterprises, and 3.7% from state and local customers. ATSI’s largest clients in fiscal year 2006 were HUD
and Fannie Mae, representing 22.2% and 19.2%, respectively, of its total revenue.




Competition ' 4

The information technology services industry is a large and highly competitive market. ATSI competes
for contracts based on its strong client relationships, successful past performance record, significant
technical expertise and specialized knowledge. ATSI often competes against both the large defense
conftractors, as well as specialized information technology consulting and outsourcing firms. Many of these
competitors are large, well-established companies that have broader geographic scope and greater
financial and other resources than ATSI. ATSI’s competitors include Lockheed Martin Corporation,
Northrop Grumman Corporation, Science Applications International Corporation, IBM, Computer
Sciences Corporation, Dynamics Research Corp., ManTech International Corporation, MTC
Technologies, Inc., NCI Inc., ICF International, Inc., Stanley, Inc., CACI International, Inc., SRA
International, Inc., SI Internanonal Inc., Accenture Ltd and BearmgPomt Inc. We expect competition in
the U.S.-government information technology services sector to increase in the future.

. . . .

Employees

At February 28, 2007, ATSI had 557 personnel, including 472 full-time employees and 46 part-time
employees, as well as 39 independent contractors. ATSI’s future success will depend significantly on its
ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. ATSI is not a party to any collective bargaining

_agreement and it has not experienced any strikes or work stoppages ATSI considers its relationship with
its employees to be satisfactory. ‘

Item 1A, Risk Factors-
Risks Assocnated with the Acquisition of ATSI and Follow-on Acqunsntlons

Certain of our key personnel who joined us as a result of the acquisition of ATSI may be unfam;lmr with the
requirements of operating a public company, which may adversely affect our operations, mcludmg szgmﬁcantly
reducing our revenues and net income, if any.

Upon completion of the acquisition, our former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Joel R. Jacks,
and our former President, Treasurer and Secretary, Peter M. Schulte, resigned as officérs but remain
members of our board of directors. Dr. Edward H. Bersoff became our Chairman; President and Chief
Executive Officer and Stuart R. Lioyd became our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.
Leon C. Perry continues with ATSI as the Senior Vice President and Director of Corporate Development.
Dr. Bersoff and Mr. Lloyd each have significant public company experience. The members of the
management of ATSI who remain with us do not have such experience and are unfamiliar with the -
requirements of operating a public company under U.S. securities laws, which could cause -us to expend
time and resources helping them become familiar with such laws. This could be expensive and time- -
consuming and could lead to various regulatory issues that may adversely affect our operatlons including
significantly reducing our revenues and net income, if any.

Our stockholders are dependent on a single business.

As a result of the acquisition, our stockholders are dependent upon the performance of ATSI and its
business and other acquired businesses. ATSI will remain subject to a number of risks, including those that
relate generally to the federal services industry. See “Risks Related'to Our Business and Operations.”™
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If the acquisition’s benefits do not meet the expectations of financial or industry analysts, the market price off our
common stock may decline.

The market price of our common stock may decline as a result of the acquisition if:

+ we do not achieve the perceived benefits of the acquisition as rapidly as, or to the extent anticipated
by, financial or industry analysts; or

.

e the effect of the acquisition on our financial results is not consistent with the expectations of
financial or industry analysts,

Accordingly, invesiors may experience a loss as a result of a decreasing stock price.
' . . L]

Members of our board of directors may have conflicts of interest that could hinder our ability to make acquisitions.

One of our growth strategies is to make selective acquisitions of complementary businesses. Twc: of
our directors, Messrs. Jacks and Schulte, are principals of CM Equity Partners, a sponsor of private equity
funds. Some of these funds are focused on investments in, among other things, businesses in the federat
services sector. Messrs. Jacks and Schulte also serve on the boards of a number of CM Equity Partners
portfolio companies and, with Dr. Bersoff, are members of the board of directors of ICF International, Inc.,
a diversified federal services business that plans to grow in part through acquisitions. It is possible that CM:
Equity Partners and related funds and portfolio companies and ICF International, Inc. could be interested
in acquiring businesses that we would also be interested in, and that these relationships could hinder our
ability to carry out our acquisition strategy.

We inay not have sufficient financial resources to carry out our acqiisition strategy; we may need to use our stock
to fund acquisitions to a greater extent that we originally intended.

Following our acquisition of ATSI in January 2007, we announced a common stock repurchase
program. As a result of that program, through March 9, 2007 we utilized approximately $12.0 million of
cash to purchase 2,399,400 shares of our common stock at an average price of $4.99 per share. These stock
repurchases significantly reduced the amount of cash available to fund acquisitions. As a result, we may
have to incur more debt, or issuec more common stock or other equity securities, than would otherwise'have
been necessary in connection with acquisitions, and we may not have sufficient financial resources to carry
out our acquisition strategy to the extent we had initially planned. '

If third parties bring claims against us or if ATSI has breached any of its representations, warranties or covenants
set forth in the stock purchase agreement governing the acquisition of ATSI, we may not be adequately
indemnified for any losses arising therefrom.

. Although the stock purchase agreement governing the acquisition of ATSI provides that the ATSI
shareholders will indemnify us for losses arising from a breach of the representations, warranties and.
covznants by ATSI set forth in the stock purchase agreement, such indemnification is limited, in gencral
terins, to an aggregate amount of $8.95 million (with a deductible of $375,000). In addition, with some,
exceptions, the survival period for claims under the stock purchase agreement is limited to the periol
ending April 30, 2008. 'We will be prevented from seeking indemnification for most claims above the
aggregate threshold or arising after the applicable survival period.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

The loss or impairment of ATSPs relationship with the U.S. government and its agencies could adversely affect
our business. - . :

ATSI derived approximately 96% of its total revenue in fiscal 2006 from contracts with the U.S.
government and government- sponsored enterprises. We expect that U.S. government contracts will
continue to be a significant source of revenue for the foreseeable future. If ATSI or any cf its partne:s is
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suspended orprohibited from contracting with the U.S. government generally or any agency or related
entity, if ATSD’s reputation or relationship with government agencies is impaired, or if the U.S.
government or any agency or related entity ceased doing business with them or significantly decreases the
amount of business it does with them, our business, prospects, financial condition and operatiﬁg results
could be significantly impaired. oo :

Changes by the U.S. government in its spending priorities may cause a reduction in the demand for the products
or services that we may ultimately offer, which could adversely affect our business.

Changes in the U.S. government budgetary priorities could directly affect our financial pérformance.
Government expenditures tend to fluctuate based on a variety of political, economic and social factors. A
significant decline in government expenditures, or a shift of expenditures away from programs we support,
ora change in U.S. government contracting policics causing its agencies to reduce their expenditures under
contracts, to exercise their right to terminate contracts at any time without penalty, not to exercise options
to renew contracts or to delay or not enter into new contracts, could adversely affect our busmess
prospects, fmancnal condition or operating results S .

We are required to comply with complex procurement laws and regulations, and the cost of compliance with these
laws and regulations and penalties and sanctions for any non-campliance'muld adversely affect our business.

We are required to comply with laws and regulations relatmg to the administration and performance
of U.S. government contracts, which affect how we do business with our customers and i impose added costs
on our business. If a government review or investigation uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be
subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts,
forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with
U.S. government agencies, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condition or operating results.” ' ‘

The U.S. government may reform its procurement or other practices in a manner adverse to us.

+ Because we derive a significant portion of our revenues from contracts with the U.S. government or its
agencies, we believe that the success and development of our business will depend on its continued
successful participation in federal contracting programs. The U.S. government may reform its procurement
practices or adopt new contracting rules and regulations including cost-accounting standards, that could
be costly to satisfy or that could impair our ablllty to obtain new contracts. It also could adopt new
contracting methods to General Services' Administration, or GSA, or other government-wide contracts or
adopt new standards for contract awards intended to achieve certain socio-economic or other policy
objectives, such as establishing new set-aside programs for small or minority-owned businesses. In addition,
the U.S. government may.face restrictions from new legislation or regulations, as well as pressure from
government employees and their unions, on the nature and amount of services the U.S. government may’
obtain from private contractors. These changes could impair our ability to obtain new contracts. Any new
contracting methods could be costly or admmlstrauvely difficult for us to 1mplement and, as a result, could
harm our operating resulis. - o

Government contracts are usually awarded through a competmve bzddmg process that entatls nsks not present in
other circumstances. :

Asignificant portion of our contracts and task orders with the U.S. government is awarded through a
competitive bidding process. We expect that much of the business we seek in the foreseeable future will
continue to be awarded through competitive bidding. Budgetaly pressures and changes in the procurement
process have caused many government clients to increasingly purchase goods and services through
indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity, or ID/IQ, contracts, GSA schedule contracts and other government-

12




wide acquisition contracts, or GWACs. These contracts; some of which are awarded to multiple
contractors, have increased competition and pricing pressure, requiring us to make sustained post-award
efforts to realize revenue under each such contract. Competitive bidding presents a number of risks,
including without limitation:

« the need to bid on programs in advance of the completion of their design, which may result in
unforeseen technological difficulties and cost overruns;

« the substantial cost and managerial time and effort that we may spend to prepare bids and
proposals for contracts that may not be awarded to us;

* the need to estimate accurately the resources and cost structure that will be required to service. any
contract we award; and '

o the expense and delay that may arise if our or our partners’ competitors protest or challenge
contract awards made to us or our partners pursuant to competitive bidding, and the risk that any
such protest or challenge could result in the resubmission of bids on modified specifications, o: in
the termination, reduction or modification 'of the awarded contract.

If we are unable to consistently win new contract awards over any extended period, our business and
prospects will be adversely affected, and that could‘cause our actual results to be adversely affected. Ta
addition, upon the expiration of a contract, if the client requires further services of the type provided sy
the contract, there is frequently a competitive rebidding process. There can be no assurance that we will
win any particular bid, ar that we will be able to replace business lost upon expiration or completion of a
contract, and the termination or non-renewal of any of our 51gmf|cant contracts could cause our actual
results to be adversely affected. . : :

Restrictians on or other changes to the U.S. government’s use of service contracts may harm our operating results.

We derive a significant amount of our revenue from service contracts with the U.S. government. The
U.S. government may face restrictions from new legislation, regulations or government union pressures, on
the nature and amount of services the government may obtain from private contractors. Any reduction in
the government’s use of private contractors to provide federal services would adversely impact our
business. '

Our contracts with the U.S. government and its agencies are subject to audits and cost adjustments.

U.S. government agencies, including the Defense Contract Audit Agency, or the DCAA, routinely
audit and investigate government contracts and government contractors’ incurred costs, administrativz
processes and systems. These agencies review our performance on contracts, pricing practices, cost
structure and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. They also review our compliance
with government regulations and policies and the adequacy of our internal control systems and policies,
including our purchase, property, estimation, compensation and management information systems. Any
costs, found to be improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, and any such costs
already reimbursed must be refunded. Moreover, if any of the administrative processes and systems are
found not to comply with requirements, we may be subjected to increased government scrutiny and
approval that could delay or otherwise adversely affect our abitity to compete for or perform contracts.
Theretore, an unfavorable outcome by an audit by the DCAA or another government agency could cause
actual results to be adversely affected and differ materially from those anticipated. If a government
investigation uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties end
administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeitures of profits, suspension of payments,
fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with the U.S. government. In addition, we couild
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suffer serious reputational harm if allegations of impropriety were made against us, Each of these results’
could cause our actual results to be adversely affected

A portion of our business depends upon obtaining and maintaining required security clearances, and our failure
to do so could result in termination of certain of our contracts or cause us to be unable to bid or rebid on certain
contracts. : '

Some U.S. government contracts require our employees to maintain various levels of security
clearances, and we may be required to maintain certain facility security clearances complying with U.S.
government requirements.

Obtaining and maintaining security clearances for employees involves a lengthy process, and it is
difficult to identify, recruit and retain employees who already hold security clearances. If our employees
are unable to obtain or retain security clearances or if such employees who hold security clearances
terminate their employment with us, the customer whose work requires cleared employees couid terminate
the contract or decide not to renew it upon expiration. To the extent we are not able to engage employees
with the required security clearances for a particular contract, we may not be able to bid on or win new
contracts, or effectively re-bid on expiring contracts, which could adversely affect our business.

In addition, we expect that some of the contracts on which we bid will require us to dcmonstrate our
ability to obtain facility security clearances and perform work with employees who hold specified types of
security clearances. A facility security clearance is an administrative determination that a.particular facility
is eligible for access to classified information or an award of a classified contracl. A contractor or
prospective contractor must meet certain eligibility requirements before it can be processed for facility
security clearance. Contracts may be awarded prior to the issuance of a facility security clearance, and in
such cases the contractor is processed for facility security clearance at the appropriate level and must meet
the eligibility requirements for access to classified information. Our ability to-obtain and maintain facility
security clearances has a direct impact on our ability to compete for and perform U.S. government
contracts, the performance of which require access to classified information. We do not expect potential
acquisitions to endanger our facility clearances. However, to the extent that any acquisition or merger
contemplated by us might adversely impact our eligibility for facility security clearance, the U.S.
government could revoke our facility security clearance if we are unable to address adequately concerns
regarding potential unauthorized access to classified information.

We may not receive the full amounts authorized under the contracts included in our backlag, which could reduce
our revenue in future periods. : LT '

Our backlog consists of funded backlog, which is based on amounts actually obligated by a client for
payment of goods and services, and unfunded backlog, which is based upon management’s estimate of the
future potential of our existing contracts and task orders, including options, to generate revenue. Our
unfunded backlog may not result in actual revenue in any particular pericd, or at all, which could cause our
actual results to differ materially from those anthIpated

Without additional Congressional approp}’iations, some of the contracts included in our backlog will remain
unfunded which could significantly harm our prospects

Although many of our U.S. government contracts require performance over a penod of years,
Congress often appropriates funds for these contracts for only one year at a time. As a result, our contracts
typically are only partially funded at any point during their term, and all or some of the work intended to
be performed under the contracts will remain unfunded pending subsequent Congressional appropriations
and the obligation of additional funds to the contract by the procuring agency. Nevertheless, we estimate -
our share of the contract values, including values based on the assumed exercise of options relating to
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these contracts, in calculating the amount of our.backlog. Because we may not receive the full amouni: we”
expect under a contract, our estimate of our backlog may be inaccurate. Lo

Loss of our GSA contracts or GWACs wau[d rmpau- our abrlxty to attract new busmess.

We are a prime contractor under several GSA contracts, Blanket Purchase Agreements and G“ AC
schedule contracts. Our ability to continue to provide services-under these contracts will continue to be
important to our business because of the multiple opportunities for new engagements each contract
provides. If we were to lose our position as prime contractor on one or more of these contracts, we conld
lose substantial revenues and our operating results could be adversely affected. Our GSA contracts ard
other GWACs have an initial term of five or more years, with- multiple options exercisable at the
government client’s discretion to extend the contract for one or more years. There can be no assurances
that government clients will continue to exercise the options remaining on our current contracts, nor ¢an-
we be assured that future clients will exercise options on any contracts we may receive.

[J.S. government contracts often contain provisions that are unfavorable, which could adversely affect our
business. . _

r U.S. government contracts contain provisionsand are subject to laws and regulations that give thi
1J.S. government rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts, including without

limitation, allowing the U S. government.to:© .. Lo : '
|

¢ terminate exrstmu contracts for convenience, as weil as for default

1

¢ establish-limitations on future serv1ces that can be offered to prospective clients ba<ed on conflict of
interest regulatlons 1 co R o - e

, M 45 . }
* reduce or modify contracts or subcontracts;

i

» cancel multi-year contracts and related ordcrs if funds for contract performance for any subsec uent-
year become unavailable; oA e .

¢ decline to exercise an option to renew a multi-year contract; |

¢ claim intellectual property rights in products provided by us; and e ey

s suspend or bar us from doing' businesg‘with’ﬁhg: federal gover'nrhenf or wi'th a gove'rximental agency.

The markets we compete in are htgh[y compétitive and many of the ¢ compames we compéte agamst have o
substarmally greater resources. ¢ ; ‘

' . . -

The markets in which we operate include a large number of participants and are high]y competitive.
Many of our competitors may compete more effectively than we can because they are larger, better
financed and better known companies than us. In order to stay competitive in our industry, we must a.so
keep pace with changing technologies and client preferences. If-we are unable to differentiate our seririces
from those of our competitors, our revenue-may beiadversely affected. In‘addition, our competitors have
established relationships among themselves or with third parties to incfease their ability to address client’
needs. As a result, new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and compete more
effectively than we can. There is also a significant industry trend towards consolidation, which may result in
the emergence of companies who are better able to compete against us. “The rcsults of these competmve :
pressures could cause our business to be adversely affected o

[ M N i Tt
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Our failure to attract and retain quahﬁed emplayees, including our.senior management team, may adverse{y
affect our business. _ ;

Our continued success depends to a substantial degree on our ability to, recruit and retain the
technically skilled personnel we need to serve our cliénts effectively. Our business involves the
development of tailored solutions for our clients, a process that relies heavily upon the expertise and
services of employees. Accordingly, our employees are our most valuable resource. Competition for skilled
personnel in the information technology services industry is intense, and technology service companies
often experience high attrition among their skilled employees. There is a shortage of people capable of
filling these positions, and they are likely to remain a limited resource for the foreseeable future.
Recruiting and training these personnel requires substantial resources. Our failure to attract and retain
technical personnel could increase our costs of performing our contractual obligations, reduce our ability
to efficiently satisfy our clients’ needs, limit our ability to win new busmess and constram our future
growth,

Qur future debt will include covenants that restrict our activities and create the risk of defaults, which could
impair the value of our stock. -

We expect our debt financing arrangements to contain a number of significant covenants that, among
other things, restrict our ability to dispose of assets; incur additional indebtedness; make capital
expenditures pay dividends; create liens on assets; enter into leases; investments and acquisitions; engage
in mergers and consolidations; engage in certain transactions with affiliates; and otherwise restrict.
corporate activities (including change of control and asset sale transactions). In addition, our fmancmg
arrangements require us to maintain specified financial ratios and comply with financial tests, some of
which may become more restrictive over time. The failure to fulfill the requirements of debt covenants, if
not cured through performance or an amendment of the financing arrangements, could have the
consequences of a default described in the risk factor below. There is no assurance that we will be able to
fulfill our debt covenants, maintain these ratios, or comply with these financial tests in the future, nor is
there any assurance that we will not be in default under our financial arrangements in the future.

A default under our debt could lead to a bankrupicy or other ﬁnanaal restructuring that would significantly
adversely affect the value of our stock. - .

In the event of a default under our financing arrangements, the lenders could, among other things,
(1) declare all amounts borrowed to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest,
(ii) terminate their commitments to make further loans, and (iii) proceed against the collateral securing
the obligations owed to them. Our senior debt is secured by substantially all of our assets. Defaults under
additional indebtedness we incur in the future could have these and other effects. Any such default could
have a 51gmf1cant adverse effect on the value of our stock. '

A defailt under our debt could lead to the bankrupicy, insolvency, financial restructuring or
liquidation. In any such event, our stockholders would be, entitled to share ratably.in our assets available
for distribution only after the payment in full to the holders of all of our debt and other liabilities. There
can be no assurance that, in any such bankruptcy, insolvency, financial restructuring or liquidation,
stockholders would receive any distribution whatsoever.

If we are unable to fund our capital expenditures, we mdy not be able to continue to develop new offerings and
services, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

In order to fund our capital expenditures, we may be required to incur borrowings or raise capital
through the sale of debt or equity securities. Qur ability to access the capital markets for future offerings
may be limited by our financial condition at the time of any such offering, as well as by adverse market
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condlitions resulting from, among other things; general economic conditions and contingencies and
uncertainties that are beyond our control. Our failure to obtain the funds for necessary future capital -
expenditures would limit our ability to develop new offerings and services and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.” ' '
Future acquisitions by us could subject us to additional busmess, operating and industry nsks the tmpact of
which cannot presently'be evaluated, and could adversely impact our capital structure,

We plan to pursue other acquisition opportunities in an effort to take advantage of the platform that
ATSI constitutes. We are not limited to any particular industry or type of business that we may acquire.
Accordingly, there is no current basis to evaluate the possible merits or risks of the particular business or
assets that we may acquire, or of the industry in which such business operates. In addition, the financiag of
any acquisition completed by us could adversely impact our capital structure as any such financing would
likely include the issuance of additional equity securities and/or the borrowing of additional funds.

' ’

We may be unable to protect or enforce our intellectiial property rights.

The protection of our trade secrets, proprietary know-how, technological innovations, other
proprictary information and other inteltectual property protections in the U.S. and other countries mauy be
critical to our success. We may rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, trade secret laws and
contractual restrictions to protect any proprictary téchnology or other rights we may have or acquire.
Despite our efforts, we may not be ablé to prevent misappropriation of those proprietary rights or detet
independent development of technologies that compete with us. Litigation may be necessary in the fuure
to enforce our intellectval property rights, to protect our trade secrets, or to determine the validity and
scope of the proprietary rights of others. It is also possible that third parties may claim we have infringed
their patent trademark, copyright or other proprictary rights. Claims or litigation, with or without merit,
could result in substantial costs and diversions of resources, cither of which could have a material advc,rse
effect on our competitive position and business.

A

We may be harmed by mtellectual property infringement claims. . | ) .

We may become subject to claims from our employees and third partles who assert that intellectial
property that we use in delivering services and business solutions to our clients infringe upon intellectual
property rights of such employees or third parties. Our employees develop much of the intellectual
property that we use to provide our services and business solutions,to our clients, but we also license
technology from other vendors. If our vendors, employees or-third parties assert claims that we or ou1 \
clients are infringing on ‘their intellectual property, we could incur ‘substantial costs to defend those cl:ums
In addition, if any of these infringement claims is ultrmately successful, we could be required to:

* cease selling and usmg products and services that 1ncorporate the challenged intellectual property,
*» obtain a. llcense or add1t1onal llcenses from our vendors or other third partles and .
» redesign our products and services that rely on the challenged mtellectual property

Any of these outcomes could further adversely affect our operatmg results,

Our quarterly revenue, apuﬂratmg results and praﬁtabrhty could be volan!e

Our quarterly revenue, operatmg results ancl profrtabd:ty may ﬂuctuate 51gn1f1cantly and
unpr°dlctably in the future e - i

4
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Factors which may contnbute to the volatlhty of quarterly revenue, operatmg results or profitability
include:

¢ fluctuations in revenue carned on contracts
» commencement, completion, and termination of contracts during any particular quarter

e variable purchasing pattems' under GSA Schedule co_mracts, and agency-spec1f_1c ID/1Q contracts;
» additions and departures of key personnel; |

» changes in our staff utilization rates; ' ’ "

) tirriing of significant costs, investrr_lents and/or receipt of iHCehtive fees;

e strategic decisions by us and our competitors, such as acquisitions, leE:StltLlI’CS spin-offs, Jomt
ventures, strategic investments, and changes in business strategy;

e contract mix and the extent of use of subcontractors;

Ct

o changes in policy and budgetary measures that adversely affect government contracts; and

s any seasonality of our busmess

r

Therefore, period to—penod comparlsons of our operatmg results may not be a good mdlcator of our
future performance. Our quarterly operating results may not meet the expectations of securities analysts or
investors, which in turn may have an adverse affect on the market price of our common stock.

Furthermore, reductions in revenue in a particular quarter could 1éad-to lower profitability in that
quarter because a relatively large amount of our expenses are fixed in the short-term. We may incur
significant operatmg €Xpenses clurmg the start-up and early stages of large contracts and may not receive
corresponding payments or révenue 'in that same’ quarter. We may also incur significant or unantlclpated
expenses or both when contracts expire, are terminated, or are not renewed. In addition, payments due to
us from government agencies and departments may be delayed due to billing cycles, as a result of failures
of governmental budgets to gain Congressional and administration approval ih a timely manner, and for
other reasons, . o o . . .

' . A [ '

If subcontractors on our prime contracts are able to secure positions as prime contractors, we may lose revenue. .

For each of the past several years, as thé GSA Schedule contracts have increasingly been used as
contract vehicles, we have received substantial revenue from government clients relating to work -
performed by other firms acting as subcontractors to us. In some cases, companiés that have not held GSA
Schedule contracts have approached us in our capacity as a prime contractor, seeking to perform services
as our subcontractor for a government client. Some of the providers that are currently acting as
subcontractors to us may in the future secure positions as prime contractors upon renewal of a GSA
Schedule contract. If one or more of our current subcontractors is awarded prime contractor status in the
future, it could reduce or eliminate our revenue for the work they were performing as subcontractors to us.
Revenue derived from work performed by ATSI’s subcontractors for fiscal years 2004, 2005 and 2006
represented 21%, 28% and 26% of our gross revenue, respectively. '

If our subcontractors fail to perform.their contractual obligations, our performance as a prime
contractor and our ability to obtain foture busmess could be materially and adversely impacted.

Our performance of govemment contracts may involve the issuance of subcontracts to other
companies upon which we rely to perform all or a portion of the work. We are obligated to deliver to our
clients. A failure by one or more of our subcoatractors to satisfactorily deliver on a timely basis the agreed-
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upon supplies and/or perform the agreed-upon services may materially and adversely affect our ability to
perform our obligations as a prime contractor. )

In extreme cases, a subcontractor’s performance deficiency could result in the government
terminating our contract for default. A default termination could-expose us to liability for excess costs of
reprocurement by the government and have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete for furure
contracts and task orders. - ‘ .

v
+

We simetimes incur costs before a contract is executed or appropriately modified. To the extent « suitable contract
or modification is not later signed and these costs are not reimbursed, our revenues and profits will be reduced.

When circumstances warrant, we sometimes incur expenses and perform work without a signed 7
contract or appropriaté modification to an existing contract to cover such expenses or work. When we'do
s0, we are working “at-risk,” and there is a chance that the subsequent contract or modification will not
ensue, or if it does, that it will not allow us to'be paid for the expenses already incurred or work alreacly
performed or both. In such cases, we have generally been successful in obtaining the required contract or
medification, but any failure to do so in the future could adversely affect operating results.

1 [ ! ! " )

If we are unable to manage our growth, our business may be adversely affected,

(N1

Sustaining our growth may place significant demands on our management, as well as dn our . :
administrative, operational and financial resources. If we sustain significant growth, we must improve our
operational, financial and management information systems and expand, motivate and manage our
workforce.'If we are unable to do so, or if new systems that we implement to assist in managing any future
growth do not produce the expected benefits, our business, prospects, fmanc1al COﬂdlt]Oﬂ or operatmg
-results cou]d be adversely affected. ,

Risks Related to Our C.lpltal Structure and Our Warrants

Because we do not curreutly intend to pay dividends on our common stock, stockholders will benefit from an .
investment in our common stock only if it appreciates in value.

" We have never declared nor paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to
retain all fufure earnings, if any, for use in the operations and expansion of our business, As a result, we do
not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination as to the
declaration and payment of cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will
depend on factors our board of directors deems relevant, including, among others, our results of
operations, financial condition and cash requirements, business prospects, and the terms of our credit
facilities and other financing arrangements. It is likely that the debt financing arrangements we put into
place will prohibit us from declaring or paying dividends without the consent of our lenders. Accordingly,
realization of a gain on stockholders’ investments will depend on the appreciation of the price of our -,
common stock. There is.no guarantee that our common stock will- appreciate in valve or even maintain the
price at which stockholders purchased their shares. .

The significant number of our outstanding warrants may place a ceiling on, or.otherwise adversely affect, the
value of our common stock. '

We have outstanding warrants to purchase 42,000,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price
of $5.00 per share, and 18,533,158 outstanding shares of common stock as of March 20, 2007. Our warants
reprasent a very significant market overhang that may limit the value of our common stock, at least in the
near term and unless and until we can substantially'grow our business. This situation may catse us to’
consider alternative means of reducing the warrant overhang. Certain of these means could dilute our
outstanding common stock or otherwise adversely affect its market value.
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If certain stockholders exercise their registration rights, it may have an adverse effect on the market price of our *
common stock. . e

Our initial stockholders are entitled to demand that we register the resale of their shares of common
stock in certain circumstances. If our initial stockholders exercise their registration rights with respect to all
of their shares of common stock purchased prior to cur public offering, then there will be an additional
2,625,000 shares of common stock eligible for trading in the public market. We have also granted
registration rights to former shareholders of ATSI, who received 173,913 shares of our common stock upon
the closing of the ATSI acquisition. We also granted registration rights with respect to 46,296 shares of
common stock in connection with our March 1, 2007 acquisition of RISI and.may also do so in connection -
with future acquisitions. The presence of this addltlonal number of shares of common stock eligible for
trading in the public market may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

If we are ‘unable to maintain a current prospectus relating to the common stock underlymg our warrants, our
warrants may be worthless.

We will not be obligated to issue shares of common stock upon the exercise of our warrants unless, at
the time a holder secks to exercise such warrant, a prospectus relating to the common stock issuable vpon
exercise of the warrant is current and such common stock has been registered or qualified or deemed to be
exempt under the securities laws of the state of residence of the holder of the warrants. Under the terms of
the warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, and us,
we have agreed to use our reasonable best efforts to maintain a current prospectus relating to the common
stock issuable upon exercise of our warrants until the expiration of our warrants. However, we cannot
assure warrant holders that we will be able to do so. If the prospectus relating to the common stock
issuable upon exercise of the warrants is not current, or if the common stock is not qualified or exempt
from qualification in the jurisdictions in which the holders of the warrants reside, our warrants may not be
exercisable before they expire. The warrant agreement is silent as to the consequences of such
circumstances. Thus, our warrants may be deprived of any value, the market for our warrants may be
limited or non-existent and the warrants may expire worthless. - -

The warrant agreement governing our warrants permils us to redeem the warrants and it is possible that we could
redeem the warrants at a time when a prospectus has not been current, resuiting in the warrant holder receiving
less than fair value of the warrant or the underlying common stock. .

Under section 6 of the warrant agreement governing our outstanding warrants, we have the right to
redeem outstanding warrants, at any time prior to their expiration, at the price of $0.01 per warrant,
provided that the last sales price of our common stock has been at least $8.50 per share on each of 20
trading days within any 30 trading day period ending on the third business day prior to the date on which -
notice of redemption is given, Section 6 of the warrant agreement does not require, as a condition to giving
notice of redemption, that we.have in effect—during either the redemption measurement period or at the-
date of notice of redemption—a current prospectus relating to the common stock issuable upon exercise of
our warrants. Thus, it is possible that we could issue a notice of redemption of the warrants following a
time when holders of cur warrants have been unable to exercise their warrants and thereafter immediately
resell the underlying common stock under a current prospectus. Under such circumstances, rather than
face redemption at a nominal price per warrant, warrant holders could be forced to sell the warrants or the
underlying common stock for less than fair value.

Our securities are quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, which may limit the liquidity and price of our
securities more than if our securities were listed on the Nasdag market.

Our securities are quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board; a NASD-sponsored and operated
inter-dealer automated quotation system for equity securities not included in the Nasdag market.




Quotation of our securities on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board will limit the liquidity and price of our
securities more than if our securities were quoted or listed on Nasdag. Although we intend to apply for
listing of our common stock on Nasdag, we cannot assure you that we will satisfy the applicable listing
requirements. .

.

Risks Associated with Limited Experience as a Public Company

ATSI has never operated as a public company. Fulfilling our obligations incident to being a ﬁ&bh‘c company
following acquiring ATSI will be expensive and time consuming.

We have maintained limited dlsclosme controls and procedures and mternal control over financial
reporting as required under the federal securities laws with respect to our limited activities prior to the
acquisition, but we have not been required to maintain and establish such disclosure controlsand 1 -
procedures and internal controls as are required with respect to the business of ATSI follawing the
acquisition. Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations of the Secur:tics
and Exchange Commission, or SEC, as well as the rules of Nasdaq, we will need to implement additianal |
internal and disclosure control procedures and corporate governance practices and adherc to a vanety of
reporting requirements and complex accounting rules. Compliance with these obligations will require’
significant management time, place significant additional demands on our finance and accounting staif and
on our financial, accounting and information systems, and increase our insurance, legal and financial
compliance costs. We may also need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with approprlate
public company experience and techmcal accountmg knowledge \

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to document and test our mternal controls over
financial reporting for fiscal 2006 and beyond and required an independent registered public accounting firm to
report on our assessment as to the effectiveness of these controls. Our assessment, and that of our accounting firm,
is that our internal controls over financial reporting need improvement. Failure to remedy these deficiencies could
affect cur future operations and our stock price. . Ce

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to document and test the effectiveness of
our internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with an established internal control framework
and to report on our conclusion as to the effectiveness of our internal controls. It also required an
independent registered public accounting firm to test our internal controls over financial reporting and
report on the effectiveness of such controls for as of fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. Our
independent registered public accounting firm was also required to express an opinion of our assessmznt.

Through December 31, 2006 and into January 2007 we had no operations, no full-time personnel and
very few personnel of any kind. Our activities from inception in late 2005 and into 2006 were focused on
completing our initial public offering, identifying acquisition candidates and then completing the
acquisition of ATSIL. Most of the proceeds of our initial public offering were deposited and held in trust
until the completion of the acquisition of ATSI. As a result of these factors, we had neither the resources,
nor the personnel, to have in place adequate internal control. The material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting relate primarily to our inability to segregate duties and lack of
documentation of the policies and procedures.

With the completion of the acquisition of ATSI in January 2007 we have additional personnel, aczess
to financial and internal control systems, and actual operations. We plan to address the internal control
deficiencies summarized above in this context beginning in the first quarter of 2007, with the goal of
eliminating such deficiencies by the end of 2007. In addition, the acquisition of ATSI will require the
development of more robust disclosure controls and procedures which we also expect to develop during
2007.
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We cannot be certain that any remedial measures we take will ensure that we implement and maintain
adequate internal controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. Any failure to
implement required new and improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could
harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. If we are unable to,
conclude that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting, or if our independent auditors
are unable to provide us with an unqualified report regarding the effectiveness of our internal controls . -
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 and in future penods investors could lose confidence in
the reliability of our financial statements, which could result in a decrease in the value of our common
stock. Failure to comply with Section 404 could potentlally subject us to sanctions or mvestlgatlons by the
SEC, Nasdaq or other regulatory authorities. - ;

Item 1B, Unresolved Staﬁ'-Commems . I

None.

Item 2, Propemes

As of December 31, 2006, ATS operated out of a Smgle facility located at 900 Thlrd -Avenue, 33rd
Floor, New York, New York. Following our acquisition of ATSI in January 2007, we now share their
headquarters which is located at 7915 Jones Branch Drive, in McLean, Virginia, a suburb of Washington,
D.C. ATSI's headquarters is occupied under a lease for approximately 131,000 square feet, at a cost of -
approximately $2.8 million per year, which terminates onJanuary 31, 2009. All corporate functions are
located there, with approximately 41% of its full-time employees located at its headquarters and other
company offices and the other 59% located at client sites. ATSI also has facilities in-Arlington, Virginia,
Richmond, Virginia, Huntsville,'Alabama, Dayton, Ohio, Sacramento, California, San Diego, California;
and Honolulu, Hawaii. ATSI does not own any real property; all of its OfflCCS are in leased premises.

Item 3 Legal Praceedmgs

From time to time we are involved in various legal-matters and proceedings concerning matters arising
in the ordinary course of business. We currently believe that any ultimate liability arising out of these
matters and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our financial posmon results of
operations or cash flows. " .

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of-2006.
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PART 11

Item 8.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockiz;alder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information .

The following table sets forth, for the calendar quarter indicated, the quarterly high and low bid
information of the Company’s common stock as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board since our common
stock began trading on December 5, 2005. The quotations listed below reflect interdealer prices, without
retail markup, markdown or commission, and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

, Common Stock Warrants Units
Quarter Ended (FDSA) (FDSAW) (FDSAU)
High Low High Low High Low

December31,2005. . ... $5.34  $5.25 $047 $032 $628 5590
March31,2006......... ..o $5.83 $532 3085 3047 8750 $56.28
June 30,2006, .. ..o $5.75 $537 $1.04 $045 §7.70 $56.40
September 29,2006 . .......oiiii e $5.47 $535 $044 $0.28 $6.40 $6.01
December 29,2006, . .........ooviiiiiiiiiiiii $5.63 $545 $036 3026 $6.30 $6.00

The closing prices of the Company’s common stock, units and warrants on March 9, 2007 were $4.40,
$5.00, and $0.495, respectively.

Effective January 30, 2007, the Company’s trading symbols were changed to ATCT (common stock),
ATCTU (units) and ATCTW (warrants) on the OTC Bulletin Board.
Holders of Common Stock

As of March 20, 2007, there were approximately 40 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared nor paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to
retain all future earnings, if any, for use in the operations and expansion of our business. As a result, we do
not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination as to the
declaration and payment of cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will
depend on factors our board of directors deems relevant, including among others, our results of
operations, financial condition and cash requirements, business prospects, and the terms of our credit
facilities and other financing arrangements, It is likely that the debt financing arrangements we put into
place in connection with the acquisition will prohibit us from declaring or paying dividends without the
consent of our lenders.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Purchases of Equity Securities

None during the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock from
December 5, 2005 (the first trading date ofhf:)ur common stock) through December 31, 2006, with the
cumulative total return on (i) the Russell 2000 stock index and (i1} a Peer Group Index composed of other
federal government service providers with whom we compete: CACI International, Inc., Dynamics
Research Corp., ManTech International Corp., MTC Technologies, Inc., NCI, Inc., 51 International, Inc.,
SRA International, Inc. and Stanley, Inc. The comparison also assumes that all dividends are reinvested
and all returns are market-cap weighted. The historical information set forth below is not necessarily
indicative of future performance. ' '
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ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON DEC. 5, 2005 |
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DEC. 31, 2006
The following table shows the value of $100 invested on December 5, 2005 in ATS Corporation, the
Russell 2000 Index and our Peer Group.

FISCAL YEAR ENDING
COMPANY/INDEX/MARKET 12/0572005_12/3072005 3/31/2006 6/30/2006 9/29/2006 12/29/2006
ATS Corporation....................... $100.00 $101.71 $109.52 $10248 $104.19 $107.24
Peer Group Index. ...................... 100.00  "104.13 - 121.10 - 99.65 101.93  101.17
Russell 2000 Index............... ... ... 100.00 99.40 11297 107.06 10720 116.37
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[tem 6.  Selected Financial Data

The following is a summary of selected statement of income data and balance sheet data for. each period
indicated. The selected financial data for the year ended December 31, 2006 and for the period from April 12,
2005 (inception) to December 31, 2005 are derived from our audlted fmancnal statements and related notes.

The selected financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and the notes to our consolidated financial statements and “Management’s Discussion and Ana'lysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Income statement data
For the For the
period from period from
, April 12, 2005 April 12,2005
(date of mcepllon) (date of inception}
P e 3006 December 11, 2003 D bor 31 2006
December ecember ccember .
Operating costs. . .......oooviiiiiiiiininn, 1,167,701) § (133,161) $(1,300,862)
InterestiNCOmME. ... oveeeeer et eeereneannannens 5,551,779 819,167 6,370,946
Gain (loss) on warrant liability ................ 5,880,000 (5,460,000) 420,0[)0
Income (loss) before provision for taxes ........ 10,264,078 (4,773,994 5,490,064
{Provision) benefit for income taxes-—current .. . (2,428,018) (333,000 (2 761,01.8)
—deferred...... ... 443,340 18,915 462, 2‘ 5
Netincome (loss). ..., $ 8,279,400 $(5,088,079) 3,191,

Interest income attributable to common stock
subject to possible conversion (net of taxes or

$561.204 and $64,000, respectively) .......... (604,756) (97,996)
Net income (loss) allocable to common .

stockholders not subject to possible conversion 7.674,644 (5,186,075)
Weighted average number of shares :

outstanding—basic ............ ..o iiiiee 26,250,000 10,599,810

Net income (loss) per share—basic............. 3 0.32 Ei (0.48)
Netincome (loss) . ...t $ 8,279,400 $ (5,088,079)

Gain on derivative liabilities attributed to
WAITANES . . o et v et e st ieee e e i anianennnns

5,880,000

Adjusted net income (loss)—for diluted earnings $ 2,399,400 $(5,083,079)
Weighted average shares outstanding .......... 26,250,000 10,599,810
Shares from assumed conversion of warrants . 3,887,477 —

Weighted average number of shares
outstanding—diluted. .. ................ ...,
Net income (loss) per shares—diluted ..........

30,137,477

5 008

10,599,810
3 (0.48)

Balance sheet data

December 31, 2006

1ecember 31, 21005

Cashand cash equivalents. ... i $ 213,395

Investments held in trust (including interest receivable of $89,737 and

1,855,394

117,990,384
106,751

$ 119,952,529

$39,444, respectively) and cash and cash equivalents held in trust fund . 121,025,807
£ 1 1o O Y11 ¢ U 638,750
Deferred acquisition costs. .......... e e 1,361,215
L T o3 RO PP $123,239,167
Total liabilitiés. ... ...oovv e e $ 15,153,241
Common stock subject to possible redemption (including interest income) 24,127,034
Total stockholders’ equity . .. ..o 83,958,892

$ 20,146,003
23,522,278
76 284 248

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ equity........ ... 3 123,239,167

$ 119,952,529
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be
read in conjunction with our historical consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto to
Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

We were organized as a “blank check” company under the laws of the State of Delaware on April 12,
2005 and were formed for the purpose of acquiring, through a merger, capital stock exchange, asset
acquisition, stock purchase or other similar business combination, an operating business in the federal
services and defense industries, Our principal executive offices are located at 7915 Jones Branch Drive,
McLean, Virginia 22102,

Recent Developments

On January 16, 2007, we acquired ail of the outstanding capital stock of ATSI, a provider of systems
integration and application development to the U.S. government, for (a) $84.0 million in cash, reduced by
a working capital adjustment, the repayment of outstanding indebtedness of ATSI and an aggregate of
$8.95 million of escrowed funds, and (b) 173,913 shares of our common stock. It is possible that the former
shareholders of ATSI could benefit from certain earnout opportunities if certain adjusted EBITDA
thresholds are achieved and additionally if ATSI is awarded a contract for a U.S. Air Force information
technology outsourcing project in Hawaii. That contracting decision has been delayed on several occasions.
As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K we had not been advised of a decision on that award.

The audited consolidated balance sheets of ATSI as of October 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended
October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are inciuded as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. During
the year ended October 31, 2006. ATSI reported contract revenues of $112.3 million compared to
$105.4 million in the prior year, operating income of $2.1 million compared to $2.7 million in the prior
year, and income from continuing operations of $0.5 million compared to $1.8 million in the prior year.

We do not believe the historical results of ATSI, which was a closely-held private business, are
indicative of future results.

We funded the cash portion of the ATSI purchase price with the proceeds of our initial public
offering. In connection with the acquisition of ATSI, holders of 2,906,355 shares of common stock who
voted against the acquisition and perfected their right to convert their shares of common stock into $5.77
of cash per share. An aggregate of $16,769,668 was paid to converting stockholders. These conversions
were also funded with the proceeds of our initial public offering. Following the completion of the
acquisition, we announced and implemented a common stock repurchase program. Through March 9,
2007, we had utilized approximately $12.0 million of cash to purchase 2,399,400 shares of our common
stock at an average price of $4.99 per share including commissions.

As of the close of business on February 28, 2007, we acquired Reliable Integration Services, Inc.
(“RISI™) a 37-employee network systems integrator serving U.S. government defense and civilian agencies
for approximately $1.3 million in cash, promissory notes and assumption of debt, plus $0.2 million in the
Company’s common stock.

On January 9, 2007, we announced that after the close of the ATSI acquisition, the Company would
and did repurchase 2,625,000 shares of the Company’s common stock from the founders of the Company
for Approximately $2,888.

Following the completion of the acquisition, we announced and implemented a common stock and
warrant repurchase program. Through March 9, 2007, we utilized approximately $12.0 million of cash to
purchase 2,399,400 shares of our common stock at an average price of $4.99 per share including
commissions. '
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The ATS Incentive Compensation Plan was approved by the stockholders at the January 12,2007
stockholder’s meeting. The plan reserves 1.5 million shares of our common stock for issuance to our
employees and employees of our subsidiaries. We will be accounting for any grants of these shares in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), “Shared-Based
Payment,” (“SFAS No. 123R”) which requires that compensation costs related to share-based payment
transactions be recognized in financial statements. These awards will be measured at estimated fair value .
and included in operating expenses over the vesting period durmg which an employee provides service in
exchange for the dward

H

We entered into a temporary 90- -day $9.0 million line of credit w1th the Bank of Amenca on February
1, 2007. The line bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus between 150-225 basis points pr annum,
depending on the outst.mdmg ba]dnce of the lme '

We entered-into a warrant cldrlflcatlon agreement onMarch 14, 2007. Prior to thal date we were
required fo record the warrant liability at each reporting date at its then estimated fair value, with any
changes being recorded through our statement of operations as other income/expense. The warrants will
continue to be reported as a liability through March 14, 2007 when we clarified our warraat agreemeint so
this treatment is no longer required." ' :

On March 19, 2007, we entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Edward H. Bersoff to join
ATS as our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer. He has been serving in that capacity since
January 16, 2007. The employment agreement was filed as part of an 8-K on March 21, 2007.

As of the close of business on March 9, 2007, we had cash on 'hz_md of approximately $2.3 million.
Overview of 2006

We neither engaged in any operations, generated any revenues nor incurred any debt or expenscs
during the period ended December 31; 2006, other than in connection with our public offering and,
thereafter, certain legal and other expenses related to pursuing acquisitions of target businesses. Our.
entire activity since inception has been to prepare for and consummate our initial publlc offering ancl to
identify and investigate target busmesses for a business combination. .o

Our nef proceeds from the sale of our units, after deducting offering expenses of approximately
$531,000 and underwriting discounts of'$6,300,000, were approximately $119,169,000. Of this amiount, -
$117,180,000 was placed in trust and the remaining $1,989,000 was not placed in trust. From mceptlcn
through December 31, 2006, we have incurred operating expenses of $1,300,862 as follows

Inception Through Year Ended Inception Through
December 31, 2005~ December 31,:2006 December .11, 2_006

Legal, accounting, travel and other expenses
attendant to the due diligence investigations, =
structuring, and negotiating of a busmess '

e

combination ... ... oo s $ 10,535 $ 666,274 $ 676,809
Administrative services and support : ‘ ' ;

(37,500 permonth) .........c........ e . 18,145 90,000 108,145
Expenses for legal and accounting fees relating .

to our SEC reporting obligations ............. 25,827 149,075 174,502
Franchise and capital taxes..................... 46,244 120,237 166,481
Director and officer liability insurance premmms 17,233 85,000 102,233
Miscellaneous expenses. .. .. .. DA : 15,177 57,115 72;292
Total. . $133,161 $1,167,701 $1,300,862
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For the year ended December 31, 2006, we had accumulated $1,361,215 in deferred costs related to
the acquisition of ATSI compared to no deferred cost in the period from April 12, 2005 (date of inception)
through December 31, 2005. These charges will be capitalized in the first quarter 2007, when the ’
acquisition was completed

For the year ended December 31, 2006, and the period from April 12, 2005 (date of inception)
through December 31, 2005, we earned $5,551,779 and $819,197 of interest income, respectively.

As described below under “Accounting for Warrants and Derivative Instruments,” as a result of
recording the change in the fair value of warrant liability, we reported a net loss of approximately $5.5
million on warrant liability for the period ended December 31, 2003, and a gain of approximately $5.9
million on warrant liability for the year ended December 31, 2006. )

Our accounting for our outstanding warrants is described below under “Critical Accounting Policies—
Accounting for Warrants and Derivative Instruments.” As described there, until we entered into a warrant
clarification agreement on March 14, 2007, we were required to record the warrant liability at each
reporting date at its then estimated fair value, with any changes being recorded through our statement of
operations as other income/expense. The warrants will continue to be reported as a liability through
March 14, 2007 when we clarified our warrant agreement so this treatment is no longer required.

On October 25, 2005, we used $154,000 of our general working capital to repay the notes payable to
our initial stockholders, Messrs. Jacks and Schulte. The loans were repaid in full, without interest, and
cancelled.

On October 25, 2005 and 2006, we used $85,000 and $42,500, respectively of our general working
capital to pay premiums associated with our directors and officers’ liability insurance, of which $25,267 of
this amount represents the prepaid portion for the cost of such insurance for 2007.

We have agreed to pay, through the date of our acquisition of a target business, CM Equity
Management, L.P., an affiliate of Messrs. Jacks and Schulte, $§7,500 per month for office space and certain .
office and secretarial services. The $7,500 per month is reimbursement for office space and the office.and
secretarial services provided to us by CM Equity Management, L.P., and not as compensation to
Messrs. Jacks and Schulte. For the year ended December 31, 2006, and for the period April 12, 2003 {(date
of inception) through December 31, 2003, we reimbursed the $90,000, and $18,145, respectively.

As of December 31, 2006, $121,025,807, including interest receivable of $89,737, was held in trust, and
we had approximately $213,000 of the available funds remaining and available to us for our activities in
connection with identifying and conducting due diligence of a suitable business combination, and for
general corporate matters.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires that
management make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant estimates and
judgments used in the preparation of our financial statements,

Cash and Cash Eqm:valems. R

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. We had cash deposits in excess of the federally insured limits at December 31, 2006.

Earnings per commion share.

Basic income per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted income per share reflects the potential dilution assuming common shares were
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issued upon the exercise of outstanding in-the-money warrants and the proceeds thereof were used to
purchase treasury shares at the average market price during the period.

Use of estimates.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those .
estimates,

Fair value of financial instruments.

The carrying amounts of our financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents and short term
investments, approximate fair value because of their short term maturities.

Accounting for Warrants and Derivative Instruments.

Emerging Issues Task Force 00-19, or EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments
Indexed to and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock,” provides criteria for determining whether
freestanding contracts that are to be settled in a company’s own stock, including common stock warrants,
should be designated as either an equity instrument, an asset or as a liability under SFAS No. 133. Under
the provisions of EITF 00-19, a contract classified as an asset or a liability must be carried at fair value on a
company’s balance sheet, with any changes in fair value recorded in a company’s results of operations. A
contract designated as an equity instrument is included within equity, and no fair value adjustments are -
required from period to period. In accordance with EITF 00-19, the warrants to purchase common stcek:
included in the units sold in our initial public offering are separately accounted for as liabilities.

The agreement related to our warrants sold in our offering provides for us to register and maintain
the registration of the shares underlying the warrants and does not specify a penalty in the absence of our
ability to deliver registered shares to holders upon exercise of the warrants. Further, until recently clarified,
the warrant agreement did not specify that we cannot be obligated to net cash settle the instrument. K
Paragraph 14 of EITF 00-19 states that if the contract allows the company to net-share or physically settle
the contract only by delivering registered shares, it is assumed that the company will be required to net-
cash settle the contract, and as a result liability classification will be required. Paragraph 17 of EITF 0C-19
states that if the contract requires physical or net-share settlement by delivery of registered shares and does
not specify any circumstances under which net-cash settlement is permitted or required, and the contract
does not specify how the contract would be settled in the event that the company is unable to deliver
registered shares, then net cash settlement is assumed if the company is unable to deliver registered shares,
(because it is unlikely that nonperformance would be an acceptable alternative). Under EITF 00-19,
registration of the common stock underlying the warrants is not within our control and, as a result, we were
required to assume that we could be required to settle the securities on a net-cash basis, thereby
necessitating the treatment of the potential settlement obligation as a liability. The fair value of these
securities is presented on our balance sheet as “warrant liabilities,” and the unrealized changes in the
values of these derivatives are shown in our statement of operations as “Gain (loss) on warrant liability.”

Fair values for traded securities and derivatives are based on quoted market prices. Where market
prices ate not readily available, as in the case of our warrants as of the date of issuance, fair values are
determined using methods requiring judgment and estimates. Utilizing such methods, the fair value of the
warrant liability at October 20, 2005 (the date of issuance) was determined to be $0.34 per warrant. At the
date of issuance, we allocated the unit price between the share of common stock and the warrants issued
based upon relative fair value determined, among other things, by reference to the underlying cash held in
the trust fund. The warrants included in the units sold in our initial public offering began to be publicly
traded on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board on December 5, 2005, and consequently the fair value cf
the warrants is reflected as the market price of a warrant at each period end. To the extent that the market
prices of our warrants increase or decrease through the March 14, 2007 effective date of our warrant
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clarification agreement, our derivative liabilities will also increase or decrease w1th a corresponding impact

on our statement of operations. b
|

Income Taxes.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting and income tax purposes: Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax
rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A
valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to

be realized.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 and the

period ended December 31, 2005.

Operating costs. . . ... i R
Interest income. .. .. e e e
Gain (loss) on warrant liability ........ S S

Income (loss) before provisions for taxes. ... ..., .

(Provision) benefit for income taxes—current ...
—deferred............ .o e
Netincome (loss).................... i,

Interest income attributable to common stock
subject to possible conversion (net of taxes or
$561,204 and $64,000, respectively} ..........

Net income (loss) allocable to common
stockholders not subject to possible conversion

Weighted average number of shares -
outstanding—basic. . ............ e

Net income (loss) per share—basic ............

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
exclusive of shares sub]ect to possible
redemption—basic.................. ...

Net income (loss) per share not subject to
possible redemption— basic. ........... R

W

For the period from
April 12, 2005
{date of inception)

For the
- period from
April 12, 2005
(date of inception)

For the year ended through through
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 = December 31, 2006
$(1,167,701) $ (133,161) $(1,300,862)
5,551,779 819,167 6,370,946
5,880,000 (5,460,000) 420,000
10,264,078 «(4,773,994) 5,490,084
(2,428,018) (333,000) . (2,761,018)
443,340 18,915 462,255
'$ 8,279,400  $(5,088,079) $ 3,191,321
(604,756) . - (97,996)
7,674,644 (5,186,075) -
26,250,000 10,599,810 .
5 032 $ 0.48
22052100 9,530,382 "’
s 035 .8 (054)

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006, and for the period from April 12, 2005
(date of inceptioni) through December 31, 2005, were $1,167,701 and $133,161, respectively. These costs
were principally composed of legal, accounting expenses and administrative costs related to due diligence .
in seeking acquisition candidates and SEC filings most of which took pldce in 2006. :

_For the year ended December 31, 2006, and the period from April 12, 2005 (ddte of inception)
through December 31, 2005, we earned $5,551,779 and $819,197 of interest income, respectively.

Warrant gains and losses for the year ended December 31, 2006, and the period from April 12, 2005
(date of 1ncept|0n) through December 31, 2005, were a gain of $5,880,000 and a loss of $5, 460,000,

respectively.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
We funded our operations in 2006 primarily tlhrough the funds raised in our initial public offering.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $2.7 million for the vear ended December 31, 2006. Cash
provided by operating activities is primarily driven by net income, adjusted for working capital changes,
which are principally changes in accrued expenses and fluctuations in warrant liabilities.

Net cash used in investing activities was $4.3 million for 2006. During 2006, we had $2.9 million of net
short-term investments and $1.4 million in deferred acquisition costs. :

On January 16, 2007, we acquired ali of the outstanding capital stock of ATSI, a provider of systems
integration and application development to the U.S. government, for (a) $84 million in cash, reduced by a
working a capital adjustment, the repayment of outstanding indebtedness of ATSI and an aggregate of
$8.95 million of escrowed funds, and (b) 173,913 shares of our common stock. It is possible that the former
shareholders of ATSI could benefit from certain earnout opportunities if ATSI is awarded a contrac: for a
U.S. Air Force information technology outsourcing project in Hawaii. That contracting dzcision has been
delayed on several occasions. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we had not been zdvised
of a decision on that award.

We funded the cash portion of the ATSI purchase price with the proceeds of our inirial public
offering. In connection with the acquisition of ATSI, holders of 2,906,355 shares of commion stock who
voted against the acquisition and perfected their right to convert their shares of common stock into §5.77
of cash per share. An aggregate of $16,769,668 was paid to converting stockholders. Thesz conversioas
were also funded with the proceeds of our initial public offering. Following the completion of the
acquisition, we announced and implemented a common stock repurchase program. Through March 9,
2007, we utilized approximately $12.0 million of cash to purchase 2,399,400 shares of common stock at an
average price of $4.99 per share.

ATS has a commitment to pay CRT Capital Group LLC a 2% fee of gross offering proceeds, or
$2,520,000 upon the Company’s consummation of a Business Combination, which was paid in January
2007. : ! '

I
ATS has engaged CRT Capital Group LLC, the underwriter, on a non-exclusive basis, as its agent for
the solicitation of the exercise of the warrants. ATS has agreed to pay CRT Capital Group LLC a
commission equal to 2% of the exercise price for each warrant exercised more than one year from O:tober
19, 2005 if the exercise was solicited by CRT Capital Group LLC. )

Under an agreement entered into May 2006 an amended in September 2006, an entity owned and
controlled by Stuart R. Lloyd, who will become the Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer will receive a payment of $100,000 plus $5,000 per week from October 1, 2006 through
the closing date if the acquisition of ATSI is completed. ATS will also reimburse for out-of-pocket costs.
The services being provided by this entity are performed by Mr. Lloyd and consist of consulting on
financial and accounting matters, including evaluation of ATSI’s operations, reviewing monthly finarcial
information, commenting o filings to be made with the-Securities and Exchange Commission, and assisting
in the preparation for, and participation in, investor presentations and similar activities. This commitment
was paid in the amount of $175,000 upon the consummation of the acquisition of ATSI in January 2007.

Effective March 1, 2007, we acquired RISI, a 37-employee network systems integrator serving U.S.
government defense and civilian agencies for approximately $1.3 million in cash, promissory notes and
assumption of debt, plus $0.2 million in ATS common stock.

As of the close of business on March 20, 2007; we had cash on hand of approximatelv $1.5 millicn.
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We expect to fund our operations following the acquisition of ATSI through funds generated from
operations, cash remaining from our initial public offering and the credit facilities described below. We
expect to retain future earnings, if any, foruse in the operatlons of the business and at this time do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends.

Although no decisions have been made as to the size, structure or number of future acquisitions, we
expect that a significant portion of acquisition prices will be borrowed from commercial sources and,
perhaps, in some cases, the owners of an acquisitions target. Depending on the nature and structure of the
target and its business, and the preferences of the owners of the target, it is possible that we would use
common stock or other equity securities as part of the acquisition consideration. However, it is not possible
to predict future acquisition structures at this time,

Another factor that could affect our capital structure and resources is our concern about the effects of
our substantial number of warrants outstdnding We have not made any decisions about what to do about
that factor, and we may take no steps in that regard, but we expect to evaluate from time to tlme
alternatives for addressing that issue.

As of December 31, 2006, we had no line of credit and no borrowings outstanding. Effective
February 1, 2007, we maintain a 90-day, $9 million line of credit with Bank of America. The current line
bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus between 150 and 225 basis points per annum, depending
on the outstanding balance on the line. We expect this temporary line to be replaced with permanent
arrangements, perhaps involving both a revolving credit facility and a stand-by acquisition facility. No
assurance can be provided that we will be able to put into place permanent credit facilities, or the size and
terms of such facilities.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

None

Effects of inflation

Since we had no operations as of December 31, 2006, the effects of inflation did not have a material
impact on our business through the period covered in this report.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued interpretation No. 48, “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 1097 (“FIN 487), regarding
accounting for, and disclosure of, uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact FIN 48 will have on its results of operations
and financial position. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48, if any, will be reported
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings accumulated during the development stage
on January 1, 2007.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. The
adoption of SFAS No. 157 is effective January 1, 2008 for the Company. We believe that the adoption of
this statement will not have a material effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows,
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[n September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108), “Financial
Statements—Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statements”. SAB 108 requires the use;of the “rollover” and “iron curtain”
approaches when attempting to quantify possible misstatements in the financial statements. If under cither
approach a misstatement is determined to have a material effect on the financial statements, the finarcial
statements must be adjusted. We adopted SAB 108 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2006. The -
adoption of this statement did not have a material effect on its financial condition, results of operations or
cash flow.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159 (SFAS 159), “The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 1157, which permits
entities to measure eligible items at fair value, For items where the fair value election is mide, we will be
required to report unrealized gains or losses in earmngs SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007. At this tlme 'we are assessmg the impact the adoption of SFAS 159 will have: on
our financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the sensitivity of income to changes in interest rates, foreign exchanges, commodity
prices, equity prices, and other market-driven rates or prices. A$ of December 31, 20006, we were not
engaged in any substantive commercial business. Accordingly, the risks associated with foreign exchange
rates, commodity prices, and equity prices were not significant. The available funds which were not
immediately required to pay our expenses were invested only in United States “government securities,”
defined as any Treasury Bill issued by the United States having a maturity of 180 days or less. Given our
limited risk in our exposure to U.S. Treasury Bills, we did not view the interest rate risk to be significant.
We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Item 8.  Financial Statements and .Supplementmy Data

Reference is made to our financial statements beginning on page F-1 of this report

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Conirols and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures ¢

We performed an assessment, as of December 31, 2006, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. This assessment was done under the supervision and
with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer. Included as Exhibits 31.1 and .31.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forms of
“Certification” of our principal executive officer (our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offic er)
an our principal financial officer (our Chief Financial Officer). The forms of Certification are required in
accordance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This section of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K that you are currently reading is the information concerning the assessment referred to in the
Section 302 certifications and required by the rules and regulations of the SEC. You should 'read this
information in conjunction with the Section 302 certifications for a more complete understandmg of the
topics presented.

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed with the objective of ensuring that information
required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports fited or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, such as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
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the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures are also

designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is accumuilated and communicated to our

management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow ,
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Management is required to assess the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of the end of each fiscal vear and report based on that assessment whether our internal control
over financial reporting was effective. Internal cantral over financial reporting is a process designed by, or
under the supervision of, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and effected by our
Board of Directors, our management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally.
accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets;

e provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management or
our Board of Directors; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of our assets that could have a material adverse effect on our financial
statements.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no assessment of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been
detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty,
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
management’s override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design
will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may
become inadequate because of changed in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Assessment of Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls Over Financial Reporting

Our Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conducted an
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,
based on the criteria set forth in the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO}. We determined that our
internal control over financial reporting was ineffective because of the following material weaknesses as
described below:

1.  Through December 31, 2006, we had no operations, no full-time personnel and very few
personnel of any kind. Our activities from inception in late 2005 and into 2006 focused on completing
our initial public offering, identifying acquisition candidates and then completing the acquisition of
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ATSI. As a result of these factors, we had neither the resources, nor the personnel, to have in place
adequate internal control. The material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting
relates primarily to our inability to segregate duties.

" 2. Inaddition, we lacked documentation of the policies and procedures' that were in place.

Management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, do not
expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will
prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the ObJCCY.IVCS of the control system are met. Further, the
design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits o
controls must be considered relative to their costs. | '

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the,Corporation’s internal control over financial
reporting has been audited by Eisner LLP, an mdependcnt reglstered public accounting firm, as state din
their report which is mcluded herein. -

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter of 2006 there were no changes in our'internal control over financial
reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

With the completion of the acquisition of ATSI in January 2007 we have additional personnel, zccess
to financial and internal control systems, and actual operations. We plan to address the internal control
weaknesses summarized above in this context beginning in the first quarter of 2007, with the goal of
eliminating such deficiencies by the end of 2007. In addition, the acquisition of ATSI will require the:
development of more robust disclosure controls and procedures, which we also expect to develop during
2007.

[ ¢’

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART 111
Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers And Corporate Governance
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “2007 Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required in this item will be included in the 2007 Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

'

Item 12.  Security Ownership Of Certain Bengficial Owners And Management And Related Stockholder Matters
Securities Authorized for Issnance under Equity Ci)mpen‘satiorn Plans

As of‘December 31, 2006, the Company had an Incentive Compensation Plan which reserved -
1.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock for issuance to employees and directors. The plan was
approved by shareholders on January 12, 2007.

The information required in this item will be included-in the 2007 Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13.  Certain Relationships And Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required in this item will be included in the 2007 Proxy Statement and is

incorporated herein by reference,

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees And Services

The information required in this item will be included in the 2007 Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. . '




Item 15.

PART IV :
Exhibits And Financial Statement Schedules ‘

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules *

See Index to Financial Statements Page F-1 included in Form 10-K.

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are included with this report or incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit

Number

Description'

31

32

4.1

42

4.3

44

4.5

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

1.5

1.6

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated January 16, 2007 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to a Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 19, 2007} |

By-laws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2006)

Specimen Unit Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed March 31, 2006)

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 2006)

Specimen Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 43 in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed March 31, 2006)

Warrant Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Compa ny
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 21,
2006)

Warrant Clarification Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company ard
the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to a Warrant Report on Form 8-K filed
March 14, 2007)

Stock Purchase Agreement dated April 19, 2006 among Federal Services Acquisition
Corporation, Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. and the shareholders of Advanced
Technology Systems, Inc. (included as Annex A to the Definitive Proxy Statement
(No. 000-51552) dated Décember 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

First Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement (included as Annex A-1 to the Definitive Proxy
Statement (No. 000-51552) dated December 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Second Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement (included as Annex A-2 to the Definitive
Proxy Statement (No 000-51552) dated December 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Third Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement (included as Annex A-3 to the Definitive
Proxy ?tatement (No. 000-51552) dated December 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference
herein

Balance Sheet Escrow Agreement among Federal Services Acquisition Corporatlon certain
shareholders of Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. and Branch Banking and Trust Com ;
as Escrow Agent (included as Annex B-1 to the Definitive Proxy Statement (No. 000-51552
dated December 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

General Indemnity Escrow Agreement among Federal Services Acquisition Corporation,
certain shareholders of Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. and Branch Banking and Trust -
Company as Escrow Agent (included as Annex B-2 to the Definitive Proxy Statement

(No. 000-51552) dated December 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

i0.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

23.1

23.2
311

31.2

321

322

99.1

Expense Escrow Agreement among Federal Services Acquisition Corporation, certain
shareholders of Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. and Branch Banking and Trust Company
as Escrow Agent (included as Annex B-3 to the Definitive Proxy Statement (No 0(]0—515§J
dated December 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Accounting Method Tax Escrow Agreement among Federal Services Acquisition Corporation,
certain shareholders of Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. and Branch Banking and Trust
Company as Escrow Agent (included as Annex B-4 to the Definitive Proxy Statement

(No. 000-51552) dated December 11, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Registration Rights Agreement among Federal Services Acquisition Corporation and certain
shareholders of Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. (included as Annex C to the Definitive -
Proxy Statement (No 000 51552) dated December 11 2006 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Federal Services Acquisition Corporation 2006 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan
(included as Annex E to the Definitive Proxy Statement (No 000-51552) dated December 11,
2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Contract dated July 24, 2006, as modified September 29, 2006 under which Advanced
Technology Systems, Inc. provrdes IT contractor support to mission areas under cognizance of
the Office of the Secretary of Defense (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,11 on a Current
Report on Form 8-K file](?/.lanuary 19, 20407)

Contract, as modified October 2006, between Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. Public Safety
Solutions Division and the Metropolitan Nashville Police Department (MNPD) with respect to
Advanced Records Management System {ARMS) project (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 on a Current Report on Form §-K filed Januvary 19, 2007)

Lease dated June 22, 1998 under which Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. leases the
Registrant’s principal executive offices, at 7915 Jones Branch Drive, McLean, VA 22102, from
West*Group Properties, LLC for a term expiring on January 31, 2009 (inco gorated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13 on a Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 19, 2007)

Employment Agreemént with Dr. Edward H. Bersoff dated March 19, 2007 (incorporated by -
reference to Exhibit 10.1 on a Current Report on From 8-K filed March 21, 2007)

Restricted Share Award Agreement w1th Dr. Edward H. Bersoff dated March 19, 2007
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on a Current Report on Form 8-K ﬁled March 21,
2007)

Consent of Eisner LLP
Consent of Grant Thomton LLP

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/ 1S(d) 19(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-19(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification of Prmcrpal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 -

Certrﬁcation of Princtpal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Ox]ey Act

~ of 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheets of Advanced Technology Systemns, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
Qctober 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related changes'in Consolidated Statements of Qperations,
Changes in Stockhotders’ Equity and Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended
October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf:by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

ATS CORPORATIOCN

March 26, 2007 By:  /s/ Dr. EDWARD H. BERSOFF

Dr. Edward H. Bersoff
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Position Date

/s/ Dr. EDWARD H. BERSOFF  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer March 26, 2007
[rn. Edward H. Bersoff (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ STUART R. LLOYD Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ~ March 26, 2007
Stuart R. Lloyd

/s JOEL R. JACKS Director March 26, 2007
Joel R. Jacks

/s/ JOSEPH A. SAPONARO Director . : March 26, 2007
Joseph A. Saponaro

f/s! PETER M. SCHULTE Director March 26, 2007
Peter M. Schulte

/s/ EDWARD J. SMITH Director March 26, 2007
Edward J. Smith
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ATS Corporation

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of ATS Corporation (formerly Federal Services
Acquisition Corporation} {(a development stage company) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
related statements of operations and the changes in stockholders” equity and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2006, and for the periods from April 12, 2005 (date of inception) through December 31,
2006 and 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ATS Corporation as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006 and for the periods from April 12, 2005 (date of
inception) through December 31, 2006 and 2005 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We aiso have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of ATS Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO7}, and our report
dated March 20, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting because of the existence of material weaknesses.

fs/ Eisner LLP
New York, New York

March 20, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

' s

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of ‘ .
ATS Corporation o . .

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that ATS Corporation (formerly Federal Services
Acquisition Corporation) (a development stage company) did not maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, because of the effect of material weaknesses identified ir.
management’s assessment based on criteria cstabllshed in Internal Control—Integrated Framework is: sued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamzatlons of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO”). The Company s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessmnent of the effectiveness of internal controt over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express 3
an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
contro] over financial reporting based on our audit.

‘We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting .
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reascnable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generaily accepted accounting principles. A company’s’ internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; {ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Biecause of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that result in more
than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented or detected. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in
management’s assessment. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had no operations and no full-time
personnel. Therefore, the Company had neither the resources nor personnel to have adequate segregation
of duties, and lacked documentation of the policies and procedures. Management concluded that internal
controls over financial reporting were not effective. These control deficiencies resulted in more than a
remotz likelihood that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements would not be
prevented or detected in the annual or interim financial statements. This material weakness was
considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 and this report does not affect our report
dated March 20, 2007 on those financial statements.
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In our opinion, management’s assessment that ATS Corporation did not maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
the COSQ criteria. Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses described above
on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, ATS Corporation has not maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Intemal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO. ‘

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the balance sheets 6f ATS Corporation as of December 31,2006 and 2005 and the
related statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and for the periods from April 12, 2005 (date of mceptlon) through December 31, 2006
and 2005 and our report dated March 20, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those fmancral
statements.

/s/ Eisner LLP
New York, New York

March 20, 2007
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

.» Balance Sheets

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashandcashequivalents ..o,
Prepaid eXPemnses ... ovvuieir e
Total CUITENL ASSELS . . o\ v v e e i aee e amnnr s emembo s
Short-term investments held in trust account (including interest
receivable of $89,737 and $39,444, respectively) (fair value
$121,024,475 and $117,709,036, respectively) .. ...l
Cash and cash equivalents held intrustfund. ...................... 0.
Deferred income tax benefit. .. ... ... i
Deferred acquisition COSES .. ...o.vvuitieniia i
Total AS8et8 . . oot e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
AcCried EXPEMISES. « .. oottt
Income tax payable—current. ...t
Deferred INCOME tAX . . v et et e trnnnrcceearaearrstnanrameeesnns
Warrant liabilities ... .. it e e
Total current labilities . ........... ...t S

Common Stock, subject to possible redemption 4,197,800 shares. .......
Interest income attributable to common stock subject to possible

redemption (net of taxes of $561,204 and $64,000, respectively). . .....

Total common stock, subject to possible redemption ..............

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note I)

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Preferred stock—S$.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized,;
0 issued and outstanding

Common stock—3$.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized;
26,250,000 issued and outstanding (which includes 4,197,900 shares
subject to possible redemption). . ...

Additional paid-incapital. .......... ...

Retained earnings (deficit) accumulated during the development stage
Total stockholders’ equity .......oii i

See notes to financial statements
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December 31, December 31,
2006 2008
$ 213,395 § 1,835,394
136,006 72,122
349,401 1,827,516
121,024 475 117,709,036
1,332 281,348
502,744 34,629
1,361,215 —
$123,239,167 $119,952,529
$ 942,146 § 34,289
310,606 356,000
40,489 15,714
13,860,000 19,740,000
15,153,241 20,146,003
23,424,282 23,424,282
702,752 97,996
24,127 034 23,522,278
2,625 2,625
81,467,698 81,467,698
2,488,569 (5,186,075)
83,958,892 76,284,248
$123,239,167 $119,952,52%




ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage ¢0n‘1fppny)

. Statements of Operations

For the For the
period from period from
April 12, 2005 April 12, 2005
For the {date of inception} {date of inceprion)
Year ended through through
. December 30, 2006 December 31, 2005  December 31, 2006
Expenses: ‘ )
Operating Costs. . ...oovennviernnann... P $ 1,167,701 $ 133,161 $ 1,300,862
Other income (loss): N
Bank interest. . .. ....oovieeiiiiiiiiin... 39,221 8,783 " 48,004
Interest on cash and short term investments '
heldintrust, . .....oooveiiiiai e ' 5,512,558 810,384 6,322,942
Gain (loss) on warrant liability ............... 5,880,000 - (5,460,000) 420,000
Total other income (loss).................. 11,431,779 (4,640,833) 6,790,946
Income (loss) before (provision) benefit for '
incometaxes.................... P e 10,264,078 (4,773,994) ' 5,490,084
(Provision} benefit for income taxes '
Current . ... e e (2,428,018) (333,000) (2,761,018)
Deferred ...................... e 443,340 18,915 462,255
Netincome (loss) . ................. . ivrun... $ 8,279,400 $ (5,088,079) $ 3,191,321
Weighted average number of shares outstanding—
basic ... e e 26,250,000 10,599,810
Net income (loss) per share—basic.............. $ 0.32 3. (0.48)
Netincome (loss) . .....oovviv i o... $ 8,279,400 . §$(5,088,079)
Gain on derivative liabilities attributed to
warrants. ........... e e 5,880,000 e
Adjusted net income (loss)—for diluted earnings . § 2,399,400 $ (5,088,079)
Weighted average shares outstanding ........... 26,250,000 - 10,599,810
Shares from assumed conversion of warrants . . . .. 3,887,477 —
Weighted average number of shares outstanding— .
dilured ... o 30,137,477 10,599,810
Net income (loss} per share—diluted............ ; $. .08 $ {0.48)

See notes to financial statements
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
For the period from April 12, 2005 (date of inception) through December 31, 2006

! (Deficit)

Income
Accumulated
Additional During the
Common Stock Paid-In Development
R Shares Amount Capital Stage Total
Balance—April 12, 2005
(date of inception)
Initial capital from founding
stockholders . ................... 5,250,000 $§ 525 § 5475 % — 5 6,000
Sale of 21,000,000 units (including
4,197,900 shares of commaon stock
subject to possible redemption), net
of underwriters’ discount and ' ,
offering expenses . ............... 21,000,000 2,100 119,166,505 — 119,168,605
Reclassification of proceeds allocated
to warrants—derivatives liability. . . — —  (14,280,000) —  (14,280,000)
Reclassification as a result of
4,197,900 shares of common stock
being subject to possible
redemption ........, e — —  (23,424,282) —  (23,424,282)
Accretion of trust fund relating to
common stock subject to possible :
redemption ...............o.ll — — — (97,996) (97,996)
Net (loss) for the period . ........... — — — (5,088,079) (5,088,079}
Balance—December 31,2005.......... 26,250,000 2,625 81,467,698 (5,186,075) 76,284,248
Accretion of trust fund relating to
common stock subject to possible
redemplion .......oovviianianas — — —  (604,756) (604,756)
Net income for theyear ............ — — — 8,279,400 8,279,400
Balance—December 31,2006.......... 26,250,000 $2,625 $ 81,467,698 § 2,488,569 § 83,958.892

See notes to financial statements
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ATS CORPORATION

(a development stage company)

Statements of Cash Flows

Cash {lows from operating-activitiES'

Net income (loss)...............coevi.n

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Deferred incometax ................... e

(Gain) ioss on warrant hablhtles ........ P ,

Changes in: .

Interest receivable ........................

Prepaid expenses . .......... e

Accrued eXpenses. ... ... iiiiie e

Income taxes payable—current. ... .......... .
Net cash provided by operating activities .

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of U.S. government securities
heldintrustfond . .......... ... ...,
Maturities of U.S. government securities
heldintrustfund . ... ... ...
Cashheldintrustfund ................... '
Deferred acquisition costs ....... L
Net cash used in investing activities .....:

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from public offering, net of
EXPEDSES. 4t vt vtnt it »

Proceeds from notes payable to stockholders

Repayment of notes to stockholders. ... .. ..

Procecds from sale of common stock to
founders. ......... ...l
Net cash provided by financing activities. .

Net (decrease) increase in cash and
cashequivalents_ . ... ... ... ... ........
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents—end of period . . ..

Supplemental Disclosure of noncash activities:
Cash paid during the period for:
Income taxes. ..., e e
Non-cash activities:
Reclassification of common stock subject to
possible redemption ........... ... ...,
Accrztion of trust fund relating to common
stock subject to possible redemption .. ...
Warrant obligation in connection with sale of
unitsin offering .......................

See notes to financial statements

For the Year

For the period
from April 12, 2005
(date of inception)

For the period

. from April 12, 2005

(date of inception)
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ended through through
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2006
8,279,400 - $ (5,088,079) $ 3,191,321
I B
(443,340) (18,915) (462,255)
(5,880,000) 5,460,000 420,000
(50,293) (39,444) (89,737)
(63,884) (72,122} (136,006)
207,857 34,289 942,146
(45,394) 356,000 310,606
2,704,346 631,729 3,336,075
(1,198,478,053)  (234,848,658) (],,'433,326,7]'1)
‘1,195,212,907 117,179,066 1,312,391,973
280,016 (281,348) ©(1,332)
(1,361,215) — (1,361,215)
(4,346,345)  (117,950,940) (122,297,235)
— 119,168,605 119,168,605 .
— 154,000 154,000
— (154,000) (154,000)
— 6,000 6,000
— 119,174,605 119,174,605
(1,641,999) 1,855,394 213,305
1,855,394 —_ —
213395 $ 1,855394 & | 213,395
2,483,385 § — § 2483385
—  $ 23424282 § 23424282
604,756 97,996 P 702,752
— 14,280,000 14,280,000




ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements

NOT'E‘A;—ORGAN IZATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

ATS Corporation (formerly Federal Services Acquisition Corporation)(the “Company”) was
incorporated in Delaware on April 12, 2005. The Company was formed to serve as a vehicle for the
acquisition of an operating business in the federal services and defense industries through a merger, capital
stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase or other similar business combination. The Company has
neither engaged in any operations nor generated revenue to date. The Company is considered to be in the
development stage and is subject to the risks associated with activities of development stage companies. As
described in Note L, in January 2007, the Company consummated a business combination and acquired all
of the outstanding common stock of Advanced Technology Systems, Inc. (“ATSI™).

‘The registration statement for the Company’s initial public offering (“Offering”) was declared
effective on October 19, 2605. The Company consummated the offering on October 25, 2005 and received
net proceeds of $119,169,000. The Company’s management has broad discretion with respect to the
specific application of the net proceeds of the Offering, although substantially all of the net proceeds of the
Offering are intended to be generally applied toward consummating a business combination with (or
acquisition of} an operating business in the federal services and defense industries (“Business ‘
Combination™). As of December 31, 2006, an amount of $121,025,807 including interest receivable of
$89,737 of the net proceeds is being held in a trust account (“Trust Account™) and is invested in U.S.
government securities, and cash or cash equivalents until the earlier of (i) the consummation of its first
Business Combination or (ii) the distribution of the Trust Account to the Company’s public stockholders.
The remaining proceeds may be used to pay for business, legal and accounting due diligence on
prospective acquisitions and continuing general and administrative expenses.

The Founders will be entitled to registration rights pursuant to an agreement signed as a part of the
Offering. The holders of the majority of these shares are entitted to make up to two demands that the
Company register these shares. The holders of the majority of these shares can elect to exercise these
registration rights at any time after the date on which their shares of common stock are released from
esérow (see below). In addition, these stockholders have certain “piggy-back” registration rights on
registration statements filed subsequent to such date. The Company will bear the expenses incurred in
connection with the filing of any such registration statement.

Upon consummation of the Offering, the Founders have placed the shares they owned into an escrow
account. These shares will not be transferable during the escrow period and will not be released from
escrow until the earliest of:

» three years following the date of the Offering,

» liquidation; or
« the consummation of a liquidation, merger, stock exchange or other similar transaction which’
results in all of the stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of common stock for cash,
securities or other property subsequent to the Company consummating a business combmatlon with
a target business. (See Note L)

During the escrow period, the holders of these shares will not be able to sell or transfer their securities
except to their spouses and children or trusts established for their benefit, but will retain all other rights as
stockholders, including, without limitation, the right to vote their shares of common stock and the right to
receive cash dividends, if declared. If dividends are declared and payable in shares of common stock, such
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE A—ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS (Continued) - : o

dividends will also be placed in escrow. If the Company-is unable to effect a business combination and ,
liquidates, none of the Founders will receive any portion of the liquidation proceeds w1th respect to
common stock owned by them.

NOTE B—SUMMARY OF SIGN[FICANT ACCOUNTING POL[CIES
[1] Cash and cash equivalents:

The Company considers all highly llqmd investments w1th original maturities of three months or less
to be cash equivalents. The Company had.cash deposits in excess of the federally insured limits at
December 31, 2006 and ZQOS. : '

[2] Accounting for Warrants and Derivative Instruments: .

On October 25, 2005, the Cémpény consummated its initial public offering of 21,000,000 units. Each
unit consists of one share of comimon stock and two redeemable common stock purchase warrants. Each
warrant entitles the holder to'purchase from the Company one share of its common stock at an exercise
price of 55.00. The warrant agreement provides for the Company to register the shares underlying the
warrants and is silent as to the penalty to be incurred in the absence of the Company’s ability to deliver
registered shares to the warrant holders upon warrant exercise.

Emerging Tssues Task Force 00-19, or EITF 00—19 “Aecounting for Derivative Financial Instruments.
Indexed to and Potenrmlly Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock, ” provides criteria for determining whether
freestanding contracts that are settled ina company’s own stock, including common stock warrants, shotld
be designated as either an equity instrument, an asset or as a liability under SFAS No. 133. Under the
provisions of EITF 00-19, a contract designated as an asset or a liability must be carried at fair value on a
company’s balance sheet, with any changes in fair value recorded in a company’s results of operations. A
contract classified as an equity instrument is included within equity, and no fair value adjustments are
required from period to period. In accordance with EITF 00-19, the warrants to purchase cortnmon stock
included in the units sold in the Company’s initial public offering are separately accounted for as liabilitizs.

The agreement related to the Company’s warrants provides for the Company to register and maintain
the registration of the shares underlying the warrants and does not specify a penalty in the absence of the
Company’s ability to deliver registered shares to holders upon exercise of the warrants. Further, the
warrant agreement does not specify that the Company cannot be obligated to net cash settle the
instrument. Paragraph 14 of EITF 00-19 states that if the contract allows the company to net-share or
physically settle the contract only by delivering registered shares, it is assumed that the company will be
required to net-cash settle the contract, and as a result liability classification will be required. Paragraph 17
of EITF 00-19 states that if the contract requires physical or net-share settlement by delivery of registered
shares znd does not specify any circumstances under which net-cash settlement is permitted or required,
and the contract does not specify how the contract would be settled in the event that the company is unable
to deliver registered shares, then net cash settlement is assumed if the company is unable to deliver
registerzd shares (because it is unlikely that nonperformance would be an acceptable alternative}. Under
EITF 00-19, registration of the common stock underlying the warrants is not within the Company’s control
and, as a result, the Company must assume that it could be required to settle the securities on a net-cash
basis, thereby necessitating the treatment of the potential settiement obligation as a liability. The fair value
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ATS CORPORATION
{a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE B—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) °

of these securities is presented on the Company’s balance sheets as “warrant liabilities,” and the unrealized
changes in the values of these derivatives are shown in the Company’s statements of operations as “Gain
(loss) on warrant liability.”

Fair values for traded securities and derivatives are based on quoted market prices. Where market
prices are not readily available, as in the case of the Company’s warrants as of the date of issuance, fair
values are determined using methods requiring judgment and estimates. Utilizing such methods, the fair
value of the warrant liability at October 20, 2005 (the date of issuance) was determined to be $0.34 per
warrant. At the date of issuance, the Company allocated the unit price between the share of common stock
and the warrants issued based upon relative fair value determined, among other things, by reference to the
underlying cash held in the trust fund. The warrants included in the units sold in the Company’s initial
pubtic offering began to be publicly traded on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board on December 5, 2005,
and consequently the fair value of the warrants is reflected as the market price of a warrant at each
reporting period. To the extent that the market prices of the Company’s warrants increase or decrease, the
Company’s derivative liabilities will also increase or decrease with acorresponding impact on its
statements of operations, , . ' '

[3] Income (loss) per common share;

Basic income/loss per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. The per share effects of potential common shares such as warrants, aggregating
3,887,477 shares, have been included for the year ended December 31, 2006. These potential shares have
not been included in the period ended December 31, 2003, beéause the effect would be anti-dilutive.
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ATS CORPORATION

(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE B—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

*

The following table presents pro forma income per share attributable to common stockholders subject

to possible conversion and not subject to possible conversion:

Net income (I0S8). ... ...oooeennn... S e
Interest income attributable to common stock subject to
possible conversion ........... . i i e
Pro forma net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
-not subject to possible conversion. ........... ... . ..ol

Pro forma weighted average number of shares outstanding,
excluding shares subject to possible conversion—basic...........

Pro forma net income (loss) per share, excluding shares subject to -
possible conversion—basic.............. ... e

Netincome (IoSS) ... ..ot iii i i it i :

Interest income attributable to common stock subject to
possible conversion (net of taxes of $561,204 and $64,000,
respectively) ...
Gain on derivativé labilities attributed to warrants. ...... .. L.
Pro forma net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
not subject to possible conversion less gain on derivative labilities
attributed towarrants ...
Pro forma weighted average number of shares outstanding
excluding shares subject to possible conversion—basic. ..........
Shares from assumed CONVETsion ON WATTaNtS. . ...................
Pro forma weighted average number of shares outstanding,
excluding shares subject to possible conversion—diluted. ...... ..

Pro forma net income (loss) per share, excluding shares subject to
possible conversion—diluted . .......... .. e e

[4] Use of estimates:

Year ended Period endeil
December 31, 2006 Diecember 31, 2005
$ 8,279,400 $(5,088,079)

(604,756) (97,995)

$ 7,674,644 $(5,186,075)
22,052,100 9,530,382
$ 035 0§ (059
$ 8279400 $(5,088,07h
(604,756) (97,996)
(5,880,000) —.
$ 1,794,644 $(5,186,07%)
22,052,100 9,530,382
3,887,477 —
25,939,577 9,530,382
§ 007 $ (054

.

- The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the *
amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those -

estimates.

[5] Fair value of financial instruments:

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents and short
term investments, approximate fair value because of their short term maturities.
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE B—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
[6] Income taxes:

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting and income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax
rates in.effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A
valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to
be realized. ‘

[7] New Accounting Pronouncement:

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued interpretation No. 48, “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”), regarding
accounting for, and disclosure of, uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the impact FIN 48 will have on its results of
operations and financial position. The cumulative effect of applymg the provisions of FIN 48, if any, will be
reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings accumulated during the
development stage on January 1, 2007. -,

In'September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS No, 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. The
adoption of SFAS No. 157 is effective January 1, 2008 for the Company. The Company believes that the
adoption of this statement will not have a matenal effect on its financial condition, results of operatlons or
cash flows.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108), “Financial
Statements—Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statements”. SAB 108 requires the use of the “rollover” and “iron curtain”
approaches when attempting to quantify possible misstatements in the financial statements. if under either
approach a misstatement is determined to have a material effect on the financial statements, the financial
statements must be adjusted. The Company adopted SAB 108 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2006.
The adoption of this statement did not have a material effect on its financial condition, results of
operations or cash flow.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159 (SFAS 159), “The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115", which permits
entities to measure eligible items at fair value. For items where the fair value election is made, the
Company will be required to report unrealized gains or losses in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. At this time, the Company is assessing the impact the adoption
of SFAS 159 will have on our financial statements.
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE C—INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

On October 25, 2005, the Company sold 21,000,000 Units (“Units™}. Each Unit consisted of one skare
of the Company’s common stock, $.0001 par value, and two warrants (“Warrants”). Each Warrant entitles
the hclder to purchase from the Company one share of common stock at an exercise price of $5.00. Each
Warrant is exercisable on the later of (a) the completion of a Business Combination or (b) October 19,
2006 and expires October 19, 2009, or earlier upon redemption. The Warrants are redeemable at a price of
3.01 per Warrant upon 30 days’ notice after the Warrants become exercisable, only in the event that the
last sale price of the common stock is at least $8.50 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading;
day period ending on the third day prior to-the date on which notice of redemption is given.

In connection with'the Offenng, the Company paid CRT Capltal Group LLCan underwriter’s
discount of 5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering.

NOTE D—INVESTMENTS HELD IN TRUST

The management of the Company intends to hold until maturity the investments held in the Trust
Account, which consist principally of short-term Treasury Bills. These bills are purchased at a discount and
the Company accretes interest income which is equivalent to the difference between the purchase price
and the market price.

NOTE E—INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes and the deferred tax liability (benefit) for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, consisted of the following:

Period from
inception
(April 12, 2005)
Year ending through
December 31, 2006  December 31, 2005
Current
Federal ........ ... ... . ... ............ $1,521,362 $206,000
Stateandlocal ...... ... ... ... ... ... ..... 906,656 127,000
Total currentincome tax .........covvvrvnrenn $2.428.018 $333,0@
Deferred tax provision (benefit)
Federal ............ ..ot $ (280,149) $ 34,629
Stateandlocal ........................ ... (163,191) (15,714)
Total deferred tax provision (benefit) .......... $ {443,340) $ 18,915

Frovisions have been made for deferred taxes based on differences between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities using currently enacted rates and regulations.
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 consisted of the
following: .

v i
0 -

As of - Asof
December 31,  December 31,
‘ ‘ o 2006 2005
Deferred tax assets—start up costs. .................... $502,744 $ 34,629
" Deferred tax liability—accrued interest receivable . . ce (40,489 ' (15,714)
"+ Netdeferredtaxbenefit......................... s $462,255  $ 18915

The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset. Realization is dependent on acquiring an operating ’
company and the ability to use the deferred tax expenses to offset operating income. Although realization
is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax will be realized
through future taxable income. '
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE E—INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed using the federal statutory rate of

34% as a result of the following: ' . . . ")

For the
period from
April 12, 2005
(date of inception)
For the Year ended through |
December 31, 2006 Diecemtber 31, 2008
Federal statutoryrate . ... 34.0% (34.0)%
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit. . . . ; 48 - 17 y
Non-deductible gain (loss) . ..... ... ... i (19.5) 389
. 19.3% __6.6%

4

NOTE F—NOTES PAYABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS

The Company issued two $77,000 non-interest bearing unsecured promissory notes to two of the
Founders of the Company on April 18, 2005. The notes were repaid in the accordance with their terms on
October 25, 2005 from the proceeds of the Offering.
NOTE G—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION . ‘

The Company has agreed to pay CM Equity Management, L.P., a company where certain of the
Founders serve in executive capacities, an administrative fee of $7,500 per month for office space and
general and administrative services from October 19, 2005 through the effective date of the acquisition of a
target business. For the year ended December 31, 2006, and the periods ended December 31, 2005 and
2006, respectively, the amount paid or accrued to this entity was $90,000, $18,145 and $108,145,
respectively. ' -

1

NOTE H—COMMITMENTS

The Company has a commitment to pay to CRT Capital Gx"oup LLC a 2% fee of the gross offering
proceeds, or $2,520,000, payable upon the Company’s consummation of a Business Combination, which -
was paid in January 2007,

The Company has engaged CRT Capital Group LLC, the underwriter, on a non-exclusive basis, as its
agent for the solicitation of the exercise of the warrants. The Company has agreed to pay CRT Capital
Group LLC a commission equal to 2% of the exercise price for each warrant exercised more than one year-
from October 19, 2005 if the exercise was solicited by CRT Capital Group LLC. At December 31, 2006, no
amount was due to CRT Capital Group LLC since no warrants were exercised.

Under an agreement entered into May 2006 and amended in September 2006, an entity owned and
controlled by Stuart R. Lloyd, who will become the Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, will receive a payment of $100,000 plus $5,000 per week from October 1, 2006 through
the closing date if the acquisition of ATSI is completed. The Company will also reimburse for out-of-
pocket costs. The services being provided by this entity are performed by Mr, Lloyd and consist of
consulting on financial and accounting matters, including evaluation of ATSI’s operations, reviewing
monthly financial information, commenting on filings to be made with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, and assisting in the preparation for, and participation in, investor presentations and similar
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

activities. This commitment in the amount of $175,000 was paid upon the consummation of the acquisition
of ATSI in January 2007.

NOTE I—COMMON STOCK RESERVED FOR ISSUANCE

At December 31, 2006, 42,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon exercise
of redeemable warrants.

NOTE J—FOUNDERS

Cne or more of the Founders agreed with the Company that during the 40 trading day period
beginning 60 days after the end of the “restricted period” under Regulation M, they collectively would
spend up to $2,000,000 to purchase warrants in the public marketplace at prices not to exceed $.635 per
warrant. They have further agreed that any warrants purchased by them or their affiliates or designees
would not be sold or transferred until the completion of a Business Combination. As of December 31,
2006, 3,699,528 warrants have been purchased by the Founders,

NOTE K—DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had accumulated $1,361,215 in deferred costs related to the
proposed acquisition of ATSI. These charges will be capitalized in the first quarter of 2007 when the
acquisition was consummated.

NOTE L—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(1) On January 16, 2007 the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Advanced
Technology Systems, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, “ATSI”), a provider of systems integration and
application development to the U.S. government, for approximately $84.0 million in cash, reduced by a
working capital adjustment, the repayment of outstanding indebtedness of ATSI and an aggregate of
173,913 shares of common stock of the Company. It is possible that the former shareholders of ATSI could
benefit from certain earnout opportunities if certain adjusted EBITDA thresholds are achieved and
additionally if ATSI is awarded a contract for a U.S-Air Force information technology outsourcing project
in Hawaii. That contracting decision has been delayed on several occasions. The Company funded the cash
portion of the ATSI purchase price with the proceeds of its initial public offering. In connection with the
acquisition of ATSI, holders of 2,906,355 shares of common stock who voted against the acquisition and
perfected their right to convert their shares of common stock into $5.77 of cash per share. An aggregate of
$16,769,668 was paid to converting shareholders. These conversions were also funded with the proceeds of
the Company’s initial public offering.
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ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE L—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued) . : '
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(2) The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet combines our historical
balance sheet and that of ATSI as of December 31, 2006 and October 31, 2006, respectively, giving effect
to the transactions described in the stock purchase agreement as if they had occurred on December 31,
2006. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations combine our historical
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006, and the historical statement of operations
of ATS for its year ended October 31, 2006 giving effect to the acquisition as lf it had occurred as of the
beginning of the fiscal year.

The transaction was approved by the ATS stockholders on J.amuary 12, 2007, and closed on January
16, 2007. The pro forma financial statements reflect the redemption of 2,906,355 shares of common stock
by stockholders wha elected to redeem their shares for cash upon the acquisition of ATSL

Under the purchase method of accounting, the preliminary purchase price has been allocated to the
net tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon preliminary estimates,
which assume that historical cost approximates fair value of the assets and liabilities of ATSI. As such
management estimates that a substantial portion of the excess purchase price will be allocated to non-
amortizable intangible assets, These estimates are subject to change upon the finalization of the valuation
of certain assets and liabilities and may be adjusted in accordance with the prowsnons of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 141, Business Combinations..

The pro forma adjustments are preliminary, and the unaudited pro forma information is not
necessarily indicative of the financial position or results of operations that may have actually occurred had
the acquisition taken place on the dates noted, or our future financial position or operating results.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE L—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet
{(in thousands)

Assets
Current Assets . . A oL
Cash ........

Total Current Assets ... ... iiiin, S
Property and Equipment, net............................ F O -
Goodwill, net. . ... ..o i e e e
Intangible Assets,net .......... .. ... . i i e
Other Assets ... .. e e e

’

Total ASSets. .o vv i e e e e s et e i

Liabilities and Stackholders Eqmty
Current Liabilities
Accountspayable................ EFP e e e
Accrued payroll and related taxes. .. ...l R
Other current liabilities. . ................... e e
Warrant liabilities ............ B e PR P
Total Current Liabilities. .. .. PR e DU s e e,
Long Term Liabilities . ... ... ... i e

Total Liabilities. . ..o e e
Commitments and ContimgenmCIes . . ...ttt ettt eaie it aareernnennns

Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stOCK . .. .. oo e
ComMmMON STOCK . ..ot e e e e
Additional paid-incapital. . ... . e
Retained earmings . .. ..o v uii it e i e e e et
Total Stockholders’ Equity. . ... e
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity. . ... o i
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Combined

Pro Forma

$ 22,161
20,495

2,485

45,141
1,353
65,812
17,000
2,037

$131,343

1,233

13,860

29,878
9,087

38,965

89,671

2,704

92,378

$131333




ATS CORPORATION
(a development stage company)

Notes to Financial Statements {(Continued)

NOTE L—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations and Per Share Data
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal 2006
. Combined
: : : __Pro Forma
Contract RevenUe ... .o vttt et e et e $ 112254
Direct Costs. ..o v et e i 72,471
Gross Margin .. ... e R 39,783
Operating EXpenses. . . ...t i e e e e PO 42,561
Operating Loss. .. ..ot e - (2,778)
Other (Expense) Income:
Interest income (expense)}, net. .................c.e.... PP -~ 5,554
Other income .......... e e e e e e e e e e e 62
Gain onwarrant iabilities .. ... . e e e e 5,880
Income from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes .......................... - 8,718
Income Tax EXPEmse . ... ..ottt e L 1,982
Income From Continuing Operations .......................... i P § 6,736
Earnings Per Share '
—Basic............ool PO e ¥ . 029
—Diuted. L e e e i e § 0.25
Weighted Avg Shares Outstanding , ,
—Basic. . e feeaee 23,517,558
—Diluted............ PP 27,405,035
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE L—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued) '

: 1 .
Calculation of purchase price (in thousands):

11 | R $ 80,248
Common stock (173,913 shares valued on the date of the purchase agreement

APril 19, 2000) . . ..ottt e e 1,000
ATS transaction costs—to be capitalized ........................ e 2,839
ATS deferred acquisition COStS . . ... ... it e 1,361
Total purchase Price . ... ..ottt it i e e e e e $ 85,448
Purchase price allocation:
L] 01 LA 11 1P $ 23562
Property and equipment. . ... ..ot i e 1,353
Intangible assets. .........cov i e [ P e 17,000
Goodwill ... e - 65,812
0 11 113 210 £ T g [ 1,533
Total assets acquired. .. ... et e e et - _ 109,260
Current liabilities. . ........... PO P 14,725
Long-term liabilities ................ e F srreerey 2,522
Deferred tax liability from acquisition intangibles. ............... e ' 6,565
Total Habilities assumed . .. o0 i et et it i i et et ettt a e ettt et 23812

Net assets acquired .................... P e e e e $ 85,448

The above table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of the acquisition. The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been based
on preliminary estimates and may be revised when remaining aspects of the purchase price allocation
have been finalized by an independent valuation foltowing the closing of the acquisition of ATSI. We
estimate that the transaction will result in $65.8 million of goodwill. The $17.0 million of acquired
customer-related intangible assets, which we believe are closely-related assets that include customer
contracts, backlog, and non-contractual customer relationships (including trade name recognition), will
be amortized based on estimated cash flows and the estimated economic benefit of the assets. The
preliminary estimated value and the weighted-average amortization period of each of the components
of the customer-reiated intangible assets are as follows:

Estimated Value Weighted-Average

Asset (in_millions) Amortization Period
Customer contracts . ..........c.coueeniann... $10.0 6 years
Backlog ........coviiiii i ‘ 6.0 3.5 years
Non-contractual customer relationships

(including trade name recognition} ......... _ 10 3 years
Total/Average. ............ ..o int 17.0 5 years
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ATS CORPORATION
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE L—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

‘The value assigned to each of the intangible asset categories was determined by taking into account
ATSI-specific data as to estimated cash flows and the estimated life of the customer-related assets,
considering factors such as the following:

Asset N Factors Considered

Customer contracts, . . .. T Length of contracts and relationship history; contract values and
estimated continuation of these contracts beyond current levels

Backlog..................... ... Length of existing contracts and related values

“Non-contractual customer
relationships (including trade ‘ :
name recognition) ........ .... Length of time ATSI has been in business; tenure of customer
relationships and revenue history

It is possible that the final purchase price allocation may vary materially from our estimates.

(3) In January 2007, the Company repurchased 2,625,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
from the founders of the Company for $2,888, after the acquisition of ATSI.

(4) Following the consummation of the acquisition of ATSI, the Company announced and
implemented a common stock and warrant repurchase program. Through March 9, 2007, the Company
utilized approximately $12.0 million of cash to purchase 2,399;400 shares of common stock at an average
price of $4.99per share including commissions.

(5) The Company entered into a temporary 90-day $9.0 million line of credit with the Bank of
America on February 1, 2007. The line bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus between 150-225
basis points per annum, dependmg on the outstandmg batance on the line.

(6) As of the close of busmess on February 28, 2007, the Company acquired Reliable Integration
Services, Inc. (“RISI”), a 37-employee network systems integrator serving U.S, government dzfense and
civilian agencies for approximately 31.3 million in cash, promissory notes and assumption of debt, plus $0 2
million in the Company’s common stock.

P ¢

{7) On January 12, 2007, the stockholders’ of ATS approved the Company’s Incentive Ccnmpensatlon

plan. The plan reserves 1.5 million shares of our common stock for issuance to our employees and
employees of our subsidiaries.

" (8) The Company entered into a warrant clarification agreement on March 14, 2007, Prior to that date
the Company was required to record the warrant liability at each reporting date at its then estimated fair
value, with any changes being recorded through its statement of operations as other income/expense. The
warrants will continue to be reported as a liability through March 14, 2007 when the Company clarified its
warrant agreement so this treatment is no longer required.

(9) On March 19, 2007, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Edward H.
Bersoff to join ATS as its Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer. He has been serving in that
capacity since January 16, 2007. The employment agreement was filed as part of an 8-K on March 21, 2007.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE M—SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Summarized quarterly financial information for fiscal year 2006 and from inception to December 31,
2005 are as follows: -

March 30, June30,  September 30, December 31,
: 2006 2006 2006 20046

Operating eXpenses .. ... .. vvrarerenrenens $ 610,197 § 283424 § 102,400 § 171,680
OtherIinCome .. ...ovvvtini i iiiaiiinens 1,189,712 1,394,201 1,448,763 1,519,103
Gain (loss} on warrant liability ................ (10,920,000) 11,760,000 4,200,000 840,000
Provision for income taxes ............ s 263,560 501,181 607,947 611,990
Netincome (o8s). ......oovev i (10,604,045) 12,369,596 4,938,416 1,575,433
Weighted average number of shares outstanding—

basic............. SR U 26,250,000 26,250,000 26,250,000 26,250,000
Net income (loss) per share—basic............. $ (0.40) $ 047 $ 0.19 § 0.06
INELINCOIMIE .\t vr e eaae e reeeanenraaens $(10,604,045) $12,369,596 % 4,938,416 § 1,575,433
Gain (loss) on derivative liabilities attributed to ’ '

BT Ve v 111 £ U — 11,760,000 4,200,000 840,000
Adjusted net income (loss)—for diluted earnings  $(10,604,045)$ 609,596 § 738416 § 735,433
Weighted average shares outstanding .......... 26,250,000 26,250,000 26,250,000 26,250,000
Shares from assumed conversion of warrants. . .. — 4208025 3,111,111 4,025,316
Weighted average number of shares outstanding— '

diluted ......... ... P 26,250,000 30,548,025 29,361,111 30,275,316
Net income per share (loss)—diluted........... $ (0.40) $ 0.02 3 0.03 § 0.02

) Inception
throngh
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

. 2005 . 2005 2005 . 2005
Operating eXpenses .. ......vvevinrranennnns $ — 3 1,000 $ = $ 132,161
Otherincome .............cooovian NN — 44 48 819,075
Loss on warrant hiability ................0.0 .- — — — (5,460,000}
Provision forincome taxes ................o.n. — — — 314,085
Net income (1088)...........oviiiiiaiia — (956) 48  (5,087,171)
Weighted average number of shares : :

outstanding—basic and diluted .. ............ — 5,250,000 5,250,000 20,543,478
Net income (loss) per share—basic and diluted ..  § — § 0.00 % .00 3 (0.25)
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